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Welcome

We are delighted to introduce NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group’s sixth
Annual Report.
The 2017/18 financial year has been one of change and challenge, but by working in
partnership with our colleagues across the wider system we believe we have adapted
to the former and risen to the latter. This collaborative approach is demonstrated by
the results of our most recent 360-degree stakeholder survey, in which 95% of our
stakeholders reported a positive working relationship with the CCG.
The quality of services received by people across west Suffolk remains high
overall. Where there are gaps, we have plans to address them. Mental health remains
an area of concern and we are currently in the process of designing a new model of
provision that will transform the way services are delivered across the county.
Continued prudent management of our financial resources has enabled us to invest in
voluntary sector-led children’s emotional health and wellbeing projects, social
prescribing initiatives, primary care resilience and transformation programmes, and
community care infrastructure.
There has been much to celebrate throughout the year – the Dementia Together
service we commissioned from Sue Ryder received an award from the Health Service
Journal for its work in supporting the physical and mental wellbeing of carers, and our
care for diabetes patients was also rated ‘outstanding’. In July 2017, just 12 months
after receiving a ‘requires improvement’ rating from NHS England, the CCG was rated
‘good’.
In January the West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust was one of only seven general
hospitals in England to be awarded ‘outstanding’ status, the highest possible, by the
Care Quality Commission. The Market Cross and Orchard House GP practices in Bury
St Edmunds and Newmarket received the same accolade during 2017/18.
In Barrow, near Bury St Edmunds, we are piloting the Dutch Buurtzorg model of care
that advocates the use of highly qualified nurses to provide both nursing and personal
care and focuses on the patient’s holistic needs, enabling independence and shifting
the emphasis from reactive care to prevention and self-care.
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Welcome continued

A lot has been achieved in the past 12 months, but we are determined not to rest on
our laurels. In 2018/19, we will focus on growing our alliance partnership with the
county council, West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation
Trust (NSFT), the Suffolk GP Federation and community health to further strengthen
the work of our integrated neighbourhood teams as we move towards becoming part
of an integrated care system which will put people, rather than organisations, at the
heart of decision making. We will continue to develop ever stronger ties with our
neighbouring CCGs - Ipswich and East Suffolk and North East Essex as part of our
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership.
Thank you to everyone whose hard work has helped us maintain our progress
throughout the year - to Governing Body and Clinical Executive members past and
present, particularly our retiring lay member for patient and public involvement Jo Finn
– and, most importantly, to the dedicated NHS staff across the system who go ‘above
and beyond’ every day.

Dr. Christopher Browning, Chair of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr. Ed Garratt, Chief Officer of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction
This section of the Annual Report looks at how our system has performed over the
last financial year. It provides information on the purpose and activities of the CCG,
describing the environment in which the CCG works, its organisational structure, its
objectives and strategies for achieving these in the context of its local population. The
issues and risks associated with achieving these objectives are explained. The
section concludes with a short summary of performance during 2017/18, with further
detail provided in the Performance Analysis section.
The NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has made significant
progress towards addressing the health priorities of the local community, while at the
same time keeping spending within budget and meeting most of the performance
targets set out in the NHS Constitution.
We have developed a set of clear ambitions and priorities that will ensure a local
approach to our delivery of the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
At the heart of our approach is a determination to work more closely with our health
and social care providers, and our local communities, to improve the quality of the
services we commission.
To achieve our ambitions we have identified six clinical priorities. They are:







to develop clinical leadership;
to demonstrate excellence in patient experience and patient engagement;
to improve the health and care of older people;
to improve access to mental health;
to improve health and wellbeing through partnership working, and
to deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement.

During 2017/18 we have engaged with patients and stakeholders, listened to their
feedback and responded to their healthcare needs. This approach is helping us
achieve our goal of delivering long-term sustainable health services that provide
comprehensive, high quality care for all.
Our partner organisations across west Suffolk are committed to helping us create an
integrated health and care system aimed at keeping our local communities well and
enabling people to live independently with a good quality of life for as long as possible.
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction continued
We recognise the crucial role GP practices play in preventing ill health and managing
people with long-term conditions, which is why we have placed primary care at the very
heart of our joint plan to implement the General Practice Forward View.
Since April 1, 2017, the CCG has been responsible for commissioning some primary
care services and has continued to work alongside our local government partners on
joint commissioning projects.
GP Forward View
The CCG is looking to create a number of neighbourhood ‘hubs’ where patients will be
able to access fully integrated community and social care facilities.
This will be achieved by:


enabling GPs to work ‘at scale’ by sharing premises to create single clinical
communities;



increasing patient involvement to ensure services meet their needs;



investing in our workforce, infrastructure and new models of care;



creating new clinical roles;



encouraging and supporting recruitment and staff retention;



providing technological solutions to enhance care delivery, and



educating and supporting patients to look after themselves.
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG

The CCG was licensed from April 1, 2013, under provisions enacted in the Health and
Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
In west Suffolk, GPs chose to form a CCG that would embrace commissioning from
the acute, mental health and community sector. From the 24 member GP practices,
eight GPs were elected to sit on the CCG’s Governing Body. The Governing Body also
has two practice managers and lay members for governance and patient and public
engagement. It shares a third lay member with NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG.
The CCG buys, manages and pays for health services including planned and
emergency hospital care, rehabilitation, most community healthcare, mental health
and learning disability services.
Our constitution sets out the arrangements we have made to ensure we meets our
responsibilities for commissioning high quality health care for the people of west
Suffolk. It describes the governing principles, rules and procedures that will ensure
integrity, honesty and accountability in our day-to-day activities.
It commits us to making decisions in an open and transparent way and places the
interests of patients and public at its heart.
The CCG’s constitution can be downloaded at:
https://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-constitution/
In 2016/17 the CCG spent around £296.6m on commissioning healthcare services for
local people1. The CCG’s population is registered with west Suffolk’s 24 GP practices
and is predominantly rural, with the population scattered across small towns and
villages. The areas covered include the Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury local
authority districts and part of the Mid Suffolk and Babergh districts.
The total GP registered population of West Suffolk CCG in February 2018 was
250,5002.

1

https://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/WSCCG_Annual_Report_201617_FINAL.pdf
2
https://digital.nhs.uk/Patients-registered-at-a-GP-practice-GP-data-hub
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
Mid 2016 population estimates indicate that people aged 65+ comprise 21.7% of our
population, whereas 22.7% are 19 or under3.
2016 population figures – west Suffolk:
Males
0-19
20-39
40-64
65-79
80+
Total

26438
28593
35514
17244
5502
113291

Females
25298
25708
36885
18761
7838
114490

Between 2018 and 2039 the population in our CCG area is forecast to grow by
approximately 11.8%. By 2039 it is forecasted that 29.9% of the CCG population will
be aged 65+.
Although the deprivation score for the CCG increased between 2010 and 2015, it is
still below the average for England (16.4 compared to 21.8 nationally). There are no
GP practices in the CCG with a deprivation score higher than the national average.
Around 2.5% of the population (approximately 5,700 people) live in the 20% most
deprived small areas within West Suffolk CCG.
West Suffolk is a generally affluent area, with pockets of relative deprivation in Bury
St Edmunds and the towns of Haverhill, Mildenhall, Newmarket and Sudbury. The
most deprived general practice areas include Haverhill Family Practice, Christmas
Maltings & Clements Practice, Siam Surgery and Hardwicke House.
The latest Quality and Outcomes Framework data (2016/17) for West Suffolk showed
that4:
 an estimated 17.2% of the adult population smoked;
 there were 13,597 adults aged 17 and over with diabetes (6.7% of all registered
patients);
 there were 37,959 adults with hypertension (15.3% of all registered patients);

3

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/data
sets/clinicalcommissioninggroupmidyearpopulationestimates
4
www.fingertips.phe.org.uk
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
 2,084 people aged 65 and over have a dementia diagnosis (3.8% of all registered
patients, as at April 2017), and
 9.2% (18,622) of registered patients aged 18 and over had a BMI greater than or
equal to 30 in the previous 12 months.
Additional 2015/16 data for Suffolk indicates:
 an estimated 63.6% of the adult population are overweight or obese, and
 23.2% of the adult population are estimated to be physically inactive.
Overall, the population of west Suffolk is generally healthy with high life expectancy.
In 2010-12 life expectancy at birth for men was 81, with a healthy life expectancy of
66.3 years, meaning 81.9% of their lives were spent in ‘good health’. Women had a
life expectancy of 84.5 and a healthy life expectancy of 67.8 years, meaning 80.2%
of their lives were spent in ‘good health’.
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Performance Overview
CCG Headquarters and Operational Area
Since July 2014 the CCG’s headquarters have been located at West Suffolk House in
Bury St Edmunds, which it shares with colleagues from Suffolk County Council, St.
Edmundsbury Borough Council and the East of England Local Government
Association.
West Suffolk House is a purpose built building that provides flexible, open plan office
space along with conference and meeting rooms, public access areas and a shared
staff café.
Easy access to colleagues from partner organisations improves the effectiveness of
joint working.
We share our management delivery team with colleagues from the neighbouring NHS
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG, which is based at Endeavour House in Ipswich, where
it shares offices with Suffolk County Council, Norfolk & Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust,
Babergh District Council and Mid Suffolk District Council.
The management delivery team provides contracted services to both CCGs. It is led
by a shared Accountable Officer.
The hot desk facilities available at West Suffolk House enable the shared
management delivery team to work from Bury St Edmunds when necessary, thereby
making better use of resources and time.
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Performance Overview
Commissioning Activity

The CCG commissions services from a range of organisations including acute hospital
trusts, GP practices, voluntary organisations and other NHS and non-NHS providers.
These include:







urgent care services including ambulance response services, accident and
emergency departments and NHS111;
elective care services for planned operations and interventions;
community services including community nursing and therapy services,
community hospitals and provision of community equipment;
services for people with mental health issues and learning disabilities, both as
inpatients and by supporting them to remain in their own homes;
services to support children with individual NHS contracts and those being
jointly supported by Suffolk County Council, and
out-of-hours GP services and non-emergency patient transport.

All service providers are closely monitored for quality and performance to ensure they
provide value for money for the people of Suffolk.
The contracting team has built strong partnerships with service providers based on
trust, respect and active clinical leadership. This enables the team to be supportive
whilst still retaining the ability to challenge when necessary.
All commissioning decisions are based on clinical best practice and data analysis, and
service providers are required to demonstrate good care outcomes and value for
money. Each provider is required to measure the impact of its service using outcomes
and patient feedback.
The CCG’s ‘Commissioning Intentions’ for 2017/18-2018/19 are available to view at:
https://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/WSCCGOperational-Plan-Appendix-A-CCG-Commissioning-Intentions-1719.pdf
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives
Our core strategies for achieving our objectives are summarised below:

Integrated Care:

Our work involves joining up services to make them simpler,
so that the public can better access them when in need. Highlights for 2017/18 include:
The integrated care workstream focuses on joining up services to make them simpler
for the public to access, ensuring that care is arranged around the patient rather than
the organisation, and supporting individuals to take responsibility for their own health
and wellbeing.
The implementation of Connect will continue to improve integration and the work
happening across all five Connect areas has already started to improve working
relationships between nurses, housing teams, social care teams and the police through
the creation of Integrated Neighbourhood Teams and Neighbourhood Networks. Work
is continuing to identify further opportunities for voluntary sector involvement. Visit
www.connectsuffolk.co.uk for more information.
The CCG has worked alongside the emerging alliance partnership to further develop
its 24/7 reactive care response to extend the range of clinical support to include
specialist respiratory, clinical pharmacy and carer support. The Early Intervention
Team continues to act as a ‘one stop shop’ for helping people retain their
independence, as well as avoiding unnecessary hospital admissions, and will play a
key role in supporting the Clinical Hub of the Integrated Urgent Care Service that will
launch in October 2018.
The alliance partnership has been exploring new models of integrated care and is
piloting a Dutch model of nursing and care support known as ‘Buurtzorg’. This model
will see a team of 12 self-managed nurses providing health and care provision to local
people in the village of Barrow, near Bury St Edmunds. The pilot will be evaluated by
The King’s Fund.
Our work on the ‘Discharge to Optimise and Assess’ initiative has progressed well with
an increasing number of patients being supported to leave hospital, and the
implementation of the ‘Support to Go Home’ initiative has successfully reduced
hospital discharge delays by offering reablement support.
Over 1,000 My Care Wishes advance care plans have been completed in the
community to support the frail and those with ‘end of life’ needs in their own homes.
The CCG’s transformation team linked up with their counterparts from partner
organisations to create a single ‘alliance’ transformation team to lead on delivery across
health and care.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Planned Care: This is care in hospital or in the community which is ‘planned’
as a result of a request from a doctor, nurse or health and care professional, and is a
major part of our work to meet people’s need. Clinicians take a lead role in setting
priorities through Clinical Transformation Groups (CTGs).
Musculoskeletal (MSK) Single Point of Referral
We have established a single point of referral or ‘gateway’ to all MSK services. This
means working with the community physiotherapy service and West Suffolk Hospital
to ensure all patients are seen in the right place at the right time. Patients can selfrefer to physiotherapy and all patients will be seen, assessed and treated (where
appropriate) before being referred to hospital.
Pain Management Service
This service continues to develop and runs effectively across the community and
within the acute hospital. Ways of working in an even more collaborative way across
primary and secondary care are currently being looked at.
Dermatology
The CCG works in partnership with West Suffolk Hospital to provide the best possible
service for patients. We are currently looking at better ways of working across the
community and hospital to ensure patients are seen as quickly as possible and in the
most appropriate place.
Demand Management
The CCG and West Suffolk Hospital have a jointly employed transformation team
working on demand management. This work is currently reviewing pathways for
cardiology, ear nose and throat (ENT) and urology as part of the 100-Day Challenge
initiative. We are working with GPs, community staff and the hospital to look at
reducing waiting times and ensuring patients are seen in the right place first time
around. We are working with the hospital to support the NHS Constitution standard of
92% of patients being treated within 18 weeks of referral.
Diabetes
We have expanded the opportunities for patients to receive diabetes education and
information when they are initially diagnosed and when they want to improve the way
they manage their condition.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
We are encouraging GPs to make their patients aware of this service and it has been
widely communicated in the community thanks to a major publicity campaign. GPs
also have better ways to monitor patients and support their diabetes care.
Clinical thresholds and low priority procedures
We have worked with the hospital to move away from the previous pre-procedure
approval process to a more integrated clinical review system. Many services now allow
for assessment at the point of referral to ensure patients are seen in the best place for
the care they need.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Children’s
Services: The CCG continues to work closely with patients and its partners to
improve health outcomes for children and young people and patients with mental
health issues through the Suffolk Mentally Healthy Communities Board, the Suffolk
Children’s Alliance and the Children’s Emotional Wellbeing Group. We continue to
work closely with Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) towards better
integration of mental health services.
A number of workshops have been held in partnership with the Suffolk User Forum
and NSFT during the past year to review the delivery and function of local mental
health services.
We have worked in co-production with NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG, Suffolk
County Council, health and care organisations, charities, schools, young people and
the Suffolk Parent Carer Network to develop service models for children, young people
and families.
Our work during 2017/18 has included:
Mental Health Services








the further development of a multi-agency single point of access (Wellbeing
Hub) for children’s mental health and emotional wellbeing services across
health and care;
the expansion of the Suffolk Wellbeing service for children, young people and
families;
the commissioning of a specialist community perinatal mental health service
provided by NSFT working with the specialist perinatal midwives at Ipswich and
West Suffolk hospitals to provide direct support and interventions for women
with severe perinatal mental health presentations. A bid for additional funding
was due to be submitted to NHS England in March 2018 to support women with
mild to moderate mental health presentations;
the commissioning of the health content for The Source website for young
people;
the provision of £100,000 in recurring grant funding for a number of voluntary
sector services including Noise Solutions, Anglia Care Trust, Fresh Start New
Beginnings and Homestart.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued




These organisations all support young people and their families. Suffolk
Community Foundation has also been commissioned as a broker to award a
further £200,000 focused on early intervention and prevention services;
the commissioning of the Marginalised and Vulnerable People’s Service;
the commissioning of services in partnership with Suffolk County Council
through the Mental Health Pooled Fund. This includes a new information
service provided in partnership with Suffolk Libraries, Suffolk Family Carers and
Suffolk MIND to provide advice, guidance and emotional support to people
living in the county.

Dementia





continued support for and promotion of the early diagnosis of dementia to
ensure that details of patients with the disease are appropriately recorded on
GP registers;
the fulfilling of Alzheimer’s UK criteria for a dementia-friendly organisation.
Similar plans are in place for GP practices;
the provision in April 2017 of the Dementia Together service, designed with
carers and patients to support people concerned about or living with dementia
and their carers, as well as professionals. The service won the CCG & Local
Authority Integrated Commissioning for Carers Award at the prestigious Health
Service Journal Awards.

Learning Disabilities





continued improvement in the care and management of people with learning
disabilities at primary care level, particularly around their uptake of health
checks;
the introduction of four learning disability link nurses working with general
practices to support people with learning disabilities following a successful pilot;
the commissioning from NSFT of a new Adult Learning Disability Intensive
Community Support Team and a Children’s Learning Disability Service.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
Children’s services


The introduction of a county-wide Children’s Alliance with the NHS West Suffolk
CCG, West Suffolk Hospital, Ipswich Hospital, NSFT, Suffolk County Council
and the Suffolk GP Federation, which has identified the following six key
children’s priorities:
o Priority 1: Children’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Plan;
o Priority 2: Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND);
o Priority 3: Speech and Language Therapy and Communication;
o Priority4: Neurodevelopmental and Behaviour Pathway to support
patients with Autism (ASD), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
(ADHD) and Conduct Disorder and Behaviour;
o Priority 5: Children and Young People’s Community Health Services;
o Priority 6: An acute/emergency paediatric pathway.

Primary Care: The CCG is committed to commissioning high quality and resilient
primary care services. Our GP Forward View strategy, drawn up in conjunction with
our colleagues from the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS North East Essex
clinical commissioning groups, supports member practices and ensures patients
continue to receive high quality services.
Since switching to delegated commissioning in April 2017 we have been working with
NHS England to ensure access to high quality, sustainable primary care services
which work as part of an integrated system to help people stay healthy and provide
co-ordinated support for patients with long-term conditions.
We recognise the crucial role GP practices play in this regard, which is why we have
placed primary care at the very heart of our joint plan to implement the General
Practice Forward View.

Medicines Management:

The CCG has adopted five core medicine
management strategies in 2017/18 to ensure safe, high quality, cost-effective
prescribing.
The Medicines Management Team (MMT) has focused on safe, appropriate and costeffective prescribing based on the latest evidence. Significant work in 2017-18
includes the publication of:
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued










an updated antibiotic formulary which advises that antibiotics should only be
prescribed when there is likely to be a clear clinical benefit and that ‘broad
spectrum’ antibiotics should be avoided if possible as they increase the risk of
Clostridium difficile, MRSA and resistant urinary tract infections;
pain ladders for acute, neuropathic and chronic pain. These include a wide
range of non-drug strategies to help people manage their pain and highlight the
risks associated with high dosage and long-term opioid use. The ladders have
been produced in partnership with specialists from the West Suffolk Pain
Services;
guidelines for the management of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
(COPD) - these include details of formulary inhalers to promote a consistent
approach across west Suffolk;
guidelines on how to reduce inappropriate polypharmacy and enhanced
medication reviews for patients who have eight or more medicines on their
repeat prescription list. Medicines that are no longer required have been
stopped to the benefit of patients and the healthcare system, and
formularies for the cost-effective prescribing of blood glucose testing strips,
needles for insulin devices and lancets.

Examples of engagement with patients and the public and the impact it has had
include:






‘Think Pharmacist’ campaign - this encourages patients to seek advice from
their local community pharmacist for the treatment of minor conditions rather
than making an appointment to see their GP or visiting A&E;
Self-care bookmarks and booklets - these have been displayed in GP waiting
rooms and other public places and help raise awareness amongst members of
the public of the cost of medicines prescribed for minor conditions, such as
indigestion, dry skin or hay fever. The booklets help patients to self-treat
conditions such as constipation and insomnia;
Videos demonstrating correct inhaler techniques - these have been posted
on CCG’s website and help patients to understand how to use their inhalers
correctly. Engagement with this initiative has been very important in improving
the successful management of asthma and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease (COPD). The videos can be viewed HERE;

 ‘Treating your infection’ leaflets - GPs have given these to patients in
situations where an antibiotic may have been expected, but is not appropriate.
This has helped to reduce inappropriate prescribing of antibiotics, reducing
antibiotic resistance.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

NHS Continuing Healthcare:

NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) is for
adult patients who have an ongoing ‘primary health need’ that is arranged and funded
solely by the NHS. The CHC Team aims to achieve the best possible assessment of,
and care for patients and to ensure these are delivered locally in a fair and costeffective way.
Initiatives undertaken by the CHC Team in 2017/18 have included:


piloting the integration of social care staff into the CHC Team to create a
more efficient service for patients and their families;



relocating to Landmark House to aid closer working with social care
colleagues;



the creation of a Joint Working Policy between CHC and social care to
improve patient experience;



the holding of public engagement events to answer questions about CHC;



an ongoing programme of training on the CHC assessment processes for
colleagues from West Suffolk Hospital, St Nicholas Hospice and community
healthcare teams;



the implementation of the CHC ‘Discharge to Assess’ model so that
assessments are no longer conducted in an acute hospital setting;



closer working with the hospital and social care to ensure CHC patients are
discharged safely and appropriately;



transferring management of Personal Health Budgets to the CHC Team;



continued participation in the nationwide NHS England CHC Strategic
Improvement Programme;



working with health care, social care and care home providers on the Care
Homes Strategic Market Review to help develop services which will support
the health and social care needs of people in Suffolk, and



closer working between social care and the CCG’s quality team to maximise
standards among domiciliary and care home providers.
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Performance Overview
Key Issues and Risks
The CCG’s Agreed Revenue Allocation for the year ending 31 March 2018, was
£345.9m. This was based on a formula which takes into account factors such as
the age and needs of the population served by the CCG as well as market forces.

Resources
The NHS West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCGs are overseen by
a single management delivery team headed by an accountable officer. Both CCGs
also have a shared Chief Nursing Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Chief Contracts
Officer, Chief Corporate Services Officer and Chief Transformation Officer. Each
CCG has its own dedicated Chief Operating Officer.
This structure has enabled the provision of:




dedicated support for the specific functions required of each CCG, its
Governing Body, committees and membership;
expertise in safeguarding, quality and safety, financial management and
contracting, and
economies of scale through shared functions.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties relevant to the CCG during the course of 2017/18
are recorded and managed by the Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF).
At the year end the CCG is carrying forward a number of risks on the GBAF in the
following areas:









Failure to achieve financial balance;
Failure to redesign and commission services covered by the Urgent
Care and Health and Independence Reviews within the required
timescales;
Mental health trust performance;
Meeting statutory safeguarding duties;
Achievement of A&E and Referral to Treatment Time waiting time
targets;
Reduction in the capacity of GP services in Haverhill;
Blood transfusion services;
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Performance Overview
Key Issues and Risks continued



SEND reforms;
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust performance.

All of these risks are reviewed on a regular basis by the Chief Officers and reports
are made to Governing Body, Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit
Committee which hold the CCG to account regarding plans to mitigate these risks.
Each Chief Officer maintains a local risk register which ensures that risks are
identified as early as possible and managed to reduce their potential impact.
A Risk Forum has been set up to enable risks and activities to be shared across
the organisation enabling a more holistic approach to risk management.
The CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework and Management of Conflict
of Interests have been given ‘substantial’ internal audit assurance ratings.
The CCG is in the process of implementing Datix risk management software.
The Governing Body has risk management strategies and an organisational
framework which sets out how risks should be managed. The full GBAF can be
viewed within the Governing Body papers on our website
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Performance Analysis
Current Performance
The West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group delivered its key statutory and
administrative financial duties during the financial year ending 31 March 2018 with a
cumulative surplus of £7.65million, against an overall Agreed Revenue Allocation of
£345.9million.
This surplus was composed of £5.8million of surplus from previous years and
£1.8million from 2017/18. The 2017/18 surplus was made up of £1.5million contingency
reserve which NHS England and HM Treasury required the organisation to hold in case
of financial deficits elsewhere in the NHS, £0.3million released to CCGs in March from
national drug cost negotiations, and £0.03million of surplus relating to CCG activities
undertaken during the year ending 31 March 2018. Financial performance targets can
be found in Section 3 Accounts, Note 23.
We continue to face a highly challenging financial environment which has resulted in
all clinical commissioning groups being required to retain half of one per cent of their
funds in case of potential deficits elsewhere in the NHS. This requirement, combined
with rising demand and costs locally, meant the savings required through Quality,
Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) schemes continued to be a significant
factor driving the CCG’s financial plans.
The CCG was able to deliver the level of savings required thanks to a combination of
factors including continuing the new method of contracting introduced in 2016/17 with
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust and West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, improved
performance in prescribing, and by continuing to make savings in the overall level of
Continuing Healthcare costs, despite continued upward pressures on prices and
demand.
CCGs aim to deliver a range of performance targets on behalf of their resident
populations. These are a combination of the NHS Constitutional Standards and the
targets set out in the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework, both of which
are nationally prescribed.
In addition to the national performance targets, the CCG aims to make progress on a
number of local indicators as determined by the CCG Quality Premium programme
and other locally determined priorities.
NHS West Suffolk CCG measures its performance against this range of national and
local performance measures through an Integrated Performance Report which is
presented to the Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee.

25. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Performance Analysis
Current Performance continued
These reports monitor progress over the year using a traffic light system to show
performance against target levels. Explanations are included to alert the decisionmaking committees to the reasons for any variances and action planned to improve or
maintain performance.
Risks to achievement of targets and plans to rectify continued dips in performance are
incorporated into the Governing Body Assurance Framework.
Throughout 2017/18, the challenges posed by the need to meet national performance
targets have been even greater than those posed by the financial restraints placed on
the NHS. In spite of the national picture, local performance has remained relatively
strong.
While there are some targets which have not been met in full, such as the four-hour
accident and emergency standard, 18-week Referral to Treatment and the new
ambulance targets introduced during the year, the CCG continues to perform well and
the majority of targets relating to cancer treatment waiting times continue to be
achieved or close to target, with good progress being made on the mental health
targets and diagnostic waiting times.
The performance of the CCG against the standards set out in the NHS Constitution
and Outcomes Framework is shown later in this section.
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Performance Analysis
Sustainable Development
What is sustainable development?
Sustainable development seeks to balance the long-term social, environmental and
economic needs of the present, without compromising the ability of future generations
to meet their own needs. For the CCG, this means paying attention to our impact on
the environment, and working to ensure we meet the diverse health and wellbeing
needs of our population.
CCG performance and achievements
We commission healthcare services to protect and improve the health of current and
future generations. We are committed to reducing carbon emissions, minimising waste
and pollution, making the best use of scarce resources, building resilience to a
changing climate and nurturing community strengths and assets. Working with our
partners we promote sustainability and carbon reduction in a variety of ways, from
using teleconferencing and car sharing to developing opportunities for services within
local areas.
In 2017/18 we developed a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP).
This set out our vision for becoming a leading sustainable organisation and explained
how we intended to do this. It determined how we responded to the current and
emerging environmental, social and economic challenges posed by climate change to
the healthcare estates and on patient health. In recent years these have included
heatwaves, prolonged periods of cold, floods and droughts. Our SDMP included an
action to develop an ‘adaptation plan’ aimed at off-setting the future climate change
risks which could affect Suffolk.
We will use the Good Corporate Citizenship assessment tool to monitor the less
obvious benefits of sustainable development, which will be reviewed annually. We will
join the Investors in the Environment Network, which supports organisations to reduce
their direct reliance on energy and natural resources, thereby cutting costs and
emissions. Based on our commitment to improving our environmental performance we
hope to achieve Investors in the Environment ‘Silver Award’ accreditation in 2018/19.
Once our SDMP has been developed, an accompanying action plan will be included
that will help us achieve our targets.
Direct impacts
We have direct control over our greenhouse gas emissions including building energy
consumption, waste, water and sewage.
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Performance Analysis
Sustainable Development continued

Our employees create indirect emissions as a result of driving to and from work and
home. Over the past year we have encouraged our employees to make sustainable
travel choices and think about energy efficiency. Our Staff Health and Wellbeing Group
will recruit ‘green champions’ and seek innovative ideas and feedback on the
organisation’s working practices and environment. The group already supports the
healthy workforce agenda, which aims to help staff remain healthy by providing access
to initiatives that promote healthy lifestyles.
Indirect impacts
We aim to increase awareness of the need for carbon management and resource
efficiency among our external suppliers and providers by developing sustainable
procurement and through low carbon commissioning work. This will reduce the carbon
footprint of our supply chain as well as helping to minimise vehicle pollution and reduce
environmental damage. We have already taken steps to encourage sustainable
transport by our commissioned services in our Procurement Policy. This policy
includes the requirement for corporate social responsibility to be one of the key criteria
used in assessing the suitability of potential providers.
Our day-to-day sustainability measures include:










reminding staff and visitors to turn off lights when leaving rooms and to turn
off their computers when not in use;
encouraging staff to work electronically and only print emails and documents
when absolutely necessary (meeting papers are uploaded to a secure portal,
meaning more people can be involved in sharing ideas);
setting printers to print double-sided to reduce the amount of paper used;
uploading papers for training and education events onto our website for GP
members to read and download as necessary;
providing recycling bins for paper and plastic;
using online internal newsletters to minimise paper waste;
encouraging car sharing and use of public transport, as well as signing to a
cycle-to-work scheme, to help reduce our travel emissions;
promoting web or tele conferencing to reduce the number of cars on the road,
lower carbon emissions and reduce the amount of the working day lost in
travelling to off-site meetings, and

 commissioning services that provide care closer to patients’ homes to
minimise carbon emissions by reducing the distance that patients have to
travel to health and social care appointments.
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Performance Analysis
Improving Quality of Services
‘Leading Change, Adding Value (2016)’ is a framework for all nursing, midwifery and
care staff which acknowledges the crucial role their professions have in closing the
care and quality gap identified in the Five Year Forward View.
The CCG has introduced new ways of monitoring the quality of our commissioned
services, ranging from providing support to contractors and, if necessary, taking action
to hold them to account if and when issues affecting performance are identified.
The Chief Nursing Officer monitors clinical standards in line with national guidance and
best practice, assuring providers’ clinical governance arrangements, verifying quality
accounts and reviewing all serious incidents and clinical investigations.
Where provider organisations are designated as failing, further measures are taken to
monitor and support them. These include:


engaging fully with regulatory improvement frameworks;



sharing expertise to improve quality monitoring systems



regularly sharing intelligence with the provider, regulators and associate
commissioners



constructively challenging existing or potential areas of concern



supporting the development of improvement plans and offering resources to
monitor and test them, and



carrying out frequent quality improvement visits to address identified
concerns.

The Chief Nursing Officer is also our lead for safeguarding children and vulnerable
adults, actively engaging with partner organisations to ensure they are appropriately
protected. During the past 12 months the CCG has taken part in reviews to improve
partnership working.
The Transforming Care Programme has enabled us to bring patients who had
previously been given placements outside of Suffolk back into the county and move
inpatients into less restrictive care settings. The CCG has signed up to the National
Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDer) Programme to learn from the deaths of
people with learning disabilities, who typically have a lower life expectancy.
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Performance Analysis
Improving Quality of Services
We have provided a designated programme of support to care homes through regular
Quality Improvement Visits, the outcomes of which are shared with relevant partners.
The past year has seen an improvement in the CQC ratings achieved by care homes
within our area. Regular meetings take place with both Suffolk County Council and the
CQC to ensure intelligence about care home providers is shared across the county.
The Chief Nursing Officer’s team has also provided increased support to primary care
services around safeguarding children and young people.
The Chief Operating Officer’s team has provided dedicated support to primary care
providers before and after CQC inspections in addition to wide-ranging training and
education for clinicians and management teams.
The CQC has now inspected all 24 GP practices in the CCG area all were rated “good”
or “outstanding”. The inspections show our GP practices deliver care in innovative
ways to benefit patients and the wider community.
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Performance Analysis
Engaging people and communities
The CCG aims to put patient and public engagement at the heart of all service
provision. By encouraging the active participation of patients, carers, community
groups and their representatives, we can deliver better services to ensure that people
get the right care, in the right place, from the right person.
This year we have created a suite of materials that help guide the way we engage with
our population to make sure our commissioning is appropriate and effective, taking
into account the area’s diverse population and the health inequalities we need to
address. It is essential we are able to communicate effectively with people from
disadvantaged or vulnerable groups, as well as people who struggle to access our
services. This helps us understand how our decisions might impact on different groups
and individuals.
This suite of materials includes an Engagement Framework and Engagement Toolkit
that assists CCG staff to:


identify who they need to engage with and how people can influence our service
planning, commissioning intentions and procurement;



ensure enough time is given so that meaningful feedback can be collected and
considered;



adapt their approach to meet the specific needs of different patient groups and
communities;



ensure responses are analysed, and



provide clear feedback to the public which reflects their input.

The CCG’s commitment to engagement is further evidenced by the appointment of
‘partnership champions’ in every one of its directorates. A partnership champions
group meets every month.
Our Community Engagement Group (CEG), a sub-group of the Governing Body
whose members are drawn from a number of groups and organisations within west
Suffolk, goes from strength to strength and is currently seeking new members. The
CEG’s aim is to make sure the public’s views are taken into account when we plan
and develop services and its members are able to share their individual health care
experiences. The lay member for patient and public involvement on the CCG’s
Governing Body sits as vice-chair of the CEG. As well as being able to scrutinise the
Governing Body’s decisions they give the CEG a direct channel to the CCG’s decision
makers. The lay member’s responsibilities also include chairing the CCG’s Primary
Care Commissioning Committee.
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Performance Analysis
Engaging people and communities continued
CEG members have been actively involved in procurement and recruitment
throughout 2017/18. They have also taken a lead role in raising awareness among
members of the public of the benefits of consenting to share their patient health record,
a major CCG campaign.
The CEG hosts an annual Patient Revolution event at which partner organisations,
stakeholder groups and members of the public can have their say on local health
provision and contribute ideas and opinions.
You can read more about how we involve patients, carers, community groups and the
public in every stage of our commissioning process in the ‘Get Involved’ section of our
website, which provides more information on how you can get involved in shaping
NHS services.
During the past year the CCG has held regular meetings with members of GP practice
patient participation groups (PPGs) to ensure they have the knowledge they need to
function effectively, both at practice level and also in representing the views of their
wider practice population to service commissioners. Funding has been provided to
enable PPGs from across west Suffolk to join the National Association for Patient
Participation (NAPP) that will give them access to shared resources and learning. A
number of PPG workshops have been held.
All our stakeholder groups provide patient and public feedback on all aspects of
service provision and on governing body decisions, as well as advising us on wider
engagement issues. We attended a number of community events and local forums
during the year to obtain feedback from patients and members of the public on different
health care related issues. Feedback from these meetings and outreach work in the
local community has been used to shape the future of local health services.
During the year the CCG has attended numerous events including the Older People’s
Fair in Bury St Edmunds, the Greenlight Trust Conference highlighting accessible
mental health services for adults with learning difficulties, Healthwatch Suffolk’s AGM
and Suffolk Parent Carer Network’s Emotional Health & Wellbeing Conference in
Elmswell, which it jointly hosted. Regular meetings are held with stakeholder groups
such as the One Haverhill Partnership.
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Performance Analysis
Engaging people and communities continued
CCG staff helped facilitate engagement events around the proposed reorganisation of
the Christmas Maltings & Clements GP practice in Haverhill, as well as taking part in
‘The Perfect Week’ initiative, surveying patients at West Suffolk Hospital to identify the
reasons why they had attended the emergency department and, where appropriate,
whether or not they had considered seeking assistance elsewhere.
During 2017/18 the CCG and West Suffolk Council jointly funded the appointment of
two shared staff members to cover maternity leave commitments. The posts, one
full-time and the other part-time, have brought instant information sharing benefits as
the two employees sit in the CCG’s engagement team and the council’s Families and
Communities Team.
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Reducing Health Inequalities
In line with our legal duty to reduce health inequalities the CCG works closely
alongside the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board (SHWB) and Public Health England
(PHE).
Our aim is to work closely with PHE to ensure we make high impact, cost effective
interventions to achieve this.
Through the SHWB we provide direct support for those groups of people in the county
which experience worse care and health outcomes. NHS England’s Five Year Forward
View challenges organisations to work harder to close the gap in inequalities and the
CCG has an Operational Plan to set out how it will respond to that challenge.
Suffolk’s ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (refresh 2016-2019)’ outlines the steps
that need to be taken to help people in the county live healthier, happier lives and
aims to narrow the differences in healthy life expectancy between those living in our
most deprived communities and those from more affluent areas.
The CCG has also re-commissioned a Marginalised and Vulnerable Adults (MVA)
service. This service helps homeless people, refugees and asylum seekers, migrant
workers, ex-offenders, gypsies and travellers and other black and minority ethnic
communities to better access GP services.
As well as encouraging these groups to register with a GP the service also provides
some outreach healthcare, and makes use of a telephone interpreting service and
face-to-face interpreters to ensure it is accessible for people who do not speak English
as a first language.
We have also:


commissioned the Wellbeing Service to help people experiencing stress and
anxiety;



continue to support the Connect project, which aims to identify the causes
of health inequalities in local communities; and



continue to forge sustainable community partnerships.

34. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Performance Analysis
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
The Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board is the key Suffolk leadership group for health,
care and wellbeing. It is the forum where the CCG, together with Suffolk County
Council and other partners from the local health economy including the police, the
voluntary sector and Healthwatch Suffolk, work together to improve wellbeing
outcomes. It is responsible for delivering the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The vice-chairman is the CCG's Accountable
Officer.
In January 2016 the Board published its ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (refresh
2016-2019)’. This was followed two months later by ‘The Time is Now – a prevention
strategy for Suffolk to reduce demand in health and care by improving health (20162021)’.
The Strategy aims to ensure that people in Suffolk live healthier, happier lives and to
narrow the gap in healthy life expectancy between those living in our most deprived
communities and those in more affluent areas.
The CCG’s strategic objectives are closely linked to the four key outcomes of the
Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board, ensuring we contribute directly to the delivery of
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
Its four key aims are:
(i)

for every child in Suffolk to have the best possible start in life

(ii)

to improve independent life for people with physical and learning disabilities

(iii)

for older people to enjoy a good quality of life; and

(iv)

for people to have the opportunity to improve their mental health and wellbeing.

The CCG works alongside health and social care commissioners and other statutory
providers as key members of the Suffolk Joint Commissioning Group for Mental Health
and Learning Disabilities and the Children’s Joint Commissioning Group. Both report
to SHWB.
The key focus for the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2017/18 has been Mental Health,
in line with the Director of Public Health's Annual Report. The Health and Wellbeing
Board has overseen and been consulted on the development and launch of the
Children's Emotional Wellbeing hub, commissioned by the Suffolk CCGs and Suffolk
County Council, which provides a unique multi-disciplinary approach to supporting
young people's mental health.
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Health and Wellbeing Strategy continued

In addition, the Health and Wellbeing Board has supported the launch of a major
review of mental health services in Suffolk, led by the Suffolk CCGs in partnership with
alliance members in Suffolk. In addition, the Suffolk CCGs have provided regular
reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board on winter resilience and integrated care, as
well as the progress of the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership.
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National Performance Measures 2017/18
NATIONAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES - 2017/18 - WEST SUFFOLK CCG (1/2)

Description

Current Period

CCG is aiming to
(> exceed target, <
Current
Current
achieve levels
Period Target Period Actual
below the target, =
achieve zero)

Full Year
Target

Full Year
Achievement
(Green =
achieved, Red
= failed)

Source of data

Enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions
Number of unplanned hospitilsation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions

Mar-18

<

187

167

1845

1,668

West Suffolk Hospital

Number of unplanned hospitilsation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s

Mar-18

<

27

17

253

215

West Suffolk Hospital

n/a

>

67%

61.5%

West Suffolk CCG population

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission (WC1.1.3)

Mar-18

<

347

291

3213

2,697

West Suffolk Hospital

Emergency admissions for children with Lower Respiratory Tract Infections (WC1.1.4)

Mar-18

<

19

21

243

216

West Suffolk Hospital

Healthcare acquired infection (HCAI) measure (MRSA)

Mar-18

=

0

0

0

0

West Suffolk CCG population

Healthcare acquired infection (HCAI) measure (clostridium difficile infections)

Mar-18

<

4

4

45

58

West Suffolk CCG population

Percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for completed admitted pathways

Mar-18

>

90%

74.7%

90%

76.6%

West Suffolk CCG population

Percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for completed non-admitted pathways

Mar-18

>

95%

92.2%

95%

88.7%

West Suffolk CCG population

Percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for incomplete pathways

Mar-18

>

92%

89.8%

92%

87.1%

West Suffolk CCG population

Number of 52 week Referral to Treatment Pathways

Mar-18

=

0

30

0

363

West Suffolk CCG population

Mar-18

<

1%

1.34%

1%

0.86%

West Suffolk CCG population

A&E waiting time - percentage of patients for which total time in the A&E department was less than 4 hours

Mar-18

>

95%

85.3%

95%

89.3%

West Suffolk Hospital

Number of trolley waits in A&E

Mar-18

=

0

0

0

0

West Suffolk Hospital

Number of Cancelled Operations

Mar-18

=

0

4

0

48

West Suffolk Hospital

Number of urgent operations cancelled for a second time

Mar-18

=

0

0

0

0

West Suffolk Hospital

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia
Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury

Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm

Referral To Treatment Pathways

Diagnostic test waiting times
Percentage of diagnostic tests not completed within 6 weeks
A&E waits

Cancelled Operations

Performance Analysis
National Performance Measures 2017/18 continued
NATIONAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES - 2017/18 - WEST SUFFOLK CCG (2/2)
Description

Current Period

CCG is aiming to
(> exceed target, <
Current
Current
achieve levels
Period Target Period Actual
below the target, =
achieve zero)

Full Year
Target

Full Year
Achievement
(Green =
achieved, Red
= failed)

Comments

Cancer waits - 2 week wait
All Cancer 2 week waits

Mar-18

>

93%

94.2%

93%

94.4%

West Suffolk CCG population

Two week wait for breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)

Mar-18

>

93%

86.8%

93%

96.3%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer day 31 waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment within one month of a cancer diagnosis

Mar-18

>

96%

99.2%

96%

99.4%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer day 31 waits: 31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-surgery

Mar-18

>

94%

100.0%

94%

97.5%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer day 31 waits: 31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-anti cancer drug regimens

Mar-18

>

98%

100.0%

98%

100.0%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer day 31 waits: 31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-radiotherapy

Mar-18

>

94%

100.0%

94%

97.1%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer 62 day waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within two months (62 days) of an
urgent GP referral for suspected cancer

Mar-18

>

85%

86.6%

85%

84.0%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer 62 day waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62-days of referral from an
NHS Cancer Screening Service

Mar-18

>

90%

80.0%

90%

87.4%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer 62 day waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62-days of a consultant
decision to upgrade their priority status

Mar-18

>

87%

100.0%

87%

78.4%

West Suffolk CCG population - Target is Monthly National
Average

C1 Mean Ambulance response time ≤7min

Mar-18

<

7.00

10:14

7.00

10:21

West Suffolk CCG population

C1 90th Centile Ambulance response time ≤15min

Mar-18

<

15.00

20:13

15.00

20:19

West Suffolk CCG population

Ambulance handover time - 1) Handover delays over 30 minutes

Mar-18

=

0

179

0

1776

West Suffolk Hospital

Ambulance handover time - 1) Handover delays over 1 hour

Mar-18

=

0

25

0

412

West Suffolk Hospital

Mar-18

=

0

2

0

3

West Suffolk CCG population

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Roll Out

Mar-18

>

1.25%

1.7%

15.0%

19.3%

West Suffolk CCG population

IAPT Recovery Rate

Mar-18

>

50%

50.0%

50%

50.4%

West Suffolk CCG population

Mental Health Measure – Care Programme Approach (CPA)

Mar-18

>

95%

100.0%

95%

97.9%

West Suffolk CCG population

Cancer waits - 31 days

Cancer waits - 62 days

Ambulance Measures

Mixed Sex Accommodation
Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA) Breaches
Mental Health
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National Performance Measures 2017/18 continued
The national performance measures shown in the tables above are taken from the
NHS Outcomes framework and NHS Constitutional standards. Performance against
these indicators is reported on a monthly in the CCG for discussion at the CCG
Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny committees as part of our Integrated
Performance Report.
Overall performance against these national targets is a mixed picture for 2017/18.
Further analysis of some of the main categories is set out below:
Hospital Acquired Infections
In line with the national target, there were no cases of MRSA during 2017/18. Levels
of C difficile infections which totalled 58 exceeded the ceiling target of 45. All cases of
C difficile have been reviewed by the CCG for learning purposes and the CCG is
working with Providers to improve performance in this area in the coming year
Mixed sex Accommodation Breaches
All three breaches of this standard were in Intensive Care whilst patients were waiting
for a bed to be available on a ward. We are assured by the provider that appropriate
protocols were followed in all cases and reviews took place for all breaches.
18 week Referral to Treatment Times
Performance on these indicators of waiting times has deteriorated during the year, in
line with much of the NHS. The national pause of planned activity to free up capacity
during Winter inevitably increased the numbers on the waiting list and the average
time taken for patients to be treated. The CCG’s main acute provider, West Suffolk
Hospital, has agreed a trajectory to deliver the 18 week performance targets by
October 2018
Accident and Emergency, 4 hour wait
Performance has been below the national target of 95% during 2017/18 for a variety
of reasons. The CCG is working with West Suffolk Hospital and other partners
including GPs, social care and ambulance provider to ensure we have new ways of
working in place to achieve this target by December 2018.

Performance Analysis
National Performance Measures 2017/18 continued

Cancer Waiting Times
There are a number of indicators used to measure performance on cancer waits. In
the main, these indicators have been achieved or failed marginally. Pathways for 62
day cancer waits may include elements of the pathway during which the patient is
treated at a specialist provider, making the overall target more difficult to achieve. The
CCG is working with the Trust to continue to improve overall performance levels in the
future.
Ambulance Performance
National performance measures for ambulance response times were changed from
October 2017. Prior to October, performance was measured against a target of
achieving an eight minute response time for different categories of ambulance
journeys over 75% of the time. The new measures replace these with the mean
response time (target 7 minutes) and 90th percentile response time (target 15 minutes).
Performance against the new measures is shown in the table. CCGs across the East
of England are working with East of England Ambulance Service to improve overall
sustainability and responsiveness.
Number of cancelled operations
The CCG monitors the number of operations cancelled for non-clinical reasons with
West Suffolk Hospital to ensure that these are rebooked within 28 days. It is expected
these will further reduce in the coming year.
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Environmental and Social Sustainability Report

The CCG is committed to sustainability, both as an organisation in its own right and
as a commissioner of services. Sustainable development requires us to be mindful of
the need to look after the environment and the social consequences of our decisions
and actions. We contribute positively to the local economy and community wherever
possible, aim to reduce waste and energy consumption, and seek to minimise any
negative impact we might make on the environment. We have dedicated a
considerable amount of time during 2017/18 to working with colleagues from different
health and care organisations for the benefit of patients and their families.
Transport
As tenants at West Suffolk House (WSH) in Bury St Edmunds, the CCG is part of
Suffolk County Council’s Green Travel Plan, which aims to maximise the use of public
transport.
Staff working at WSH can travel free on nine buses operating around the town and a
20% discount is available on bus services and national rail season tickets running into
Bury St Edmunds from surrounding areas.
Facilities are provided to encourage cycling and walking. WSH is on several cycle
routes (see cycle map) and is easy to access from the cycle paths which run to
Beetons Way from Newmarket Road, Western Way and Springfield Road.
Covered cycle shelters are located near the staff entrance to WSH which provide
space for 48 bicycles. There is space for an additional 28 bicycles which can be used
by visitors to WSH near the main entrance to the building. The shelters are well lit and
covered by CCTV cameras. Pool cycles are also available for staff to use. There is a
changing area close to the staff entrance at WSH where cyclists and walkers can
shower and change after arriving at work and before leaving. There are four showers
in each of the male and female changing areas. There are 44 lockers for cyclists and
walkers to store cycle equipment and clothing if required. Some are available on a
daily basis and others can be booked for longer periods subject to payment of a
deposit for the key.
Staff who use vehicles with an emission rate of 100g/km CO2 or less do not have to
pay to use the Olding Road Car Park, which is a few minutes’ walk from WSH.
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Environmental and Social Sustainability Report continued

Procurement
The CCG’s procurement policy was reviewed and updated in 2017 with input from
local residents. The new policy emphasises the benefits of the Social Value Act,
promotes tax compliance and encourages patient and public involvement in our
procurement process.
Facilities Management and Energy Consumption
The CCG shares its headquarters at WSH with Suffolk County Council, St Edmundsbury
Borough Council and the East of England Local Government Association. WSH is a
purpose-built four-storey building providing 4,500sq metres of ‘open plan’ office space
along with conference and meeting rooms, public access areas, a democratic
space/council chamber and a staff café. It recently achieved a BREEAM ‘Excellent’
rating and was rated in Energy Performance Band A. The building has been designed
to achieve a very high energy efficiency standard and has achieved its Percentage
Emissions Reduction Commitment of 47 per cent by incorporating the following design
and operation measures:










structure – the exposed reinforced concrete structure provides high thermal
mass for night cooling, aided by automatically controlled ventilation;
ground source heat pump – this is linked to embedded pipework in a ‘bubble
deck’ concrete floor slab (the first of its kind in the UK) which allows both heating
and cooling of the building mass to control room temperatures;
ventilation - natural ventilation is used wherever possible throughout the building
and the roof pitch is designed to improve natural ventilation;
building management system – the building features a comprehensive BACNet
building management system;
insulation and glazing – WSH incorporates solar performance double glazing,
solar thermal water heating and 20sq metre solar thermal collectors which track
the sun to generate approximately a quarter of the building’s hot water;
lighting – the building features enhanced lighting systems including lights
installed on the atrium roof to increase daylight penetration into the office, and
rainwater harvesting - to provide some of the water for toilet flushing.

Human Resources
The CCG supports remote working for all eligible staff, enabling peripatetic and
outreach workers such as medicines management technicians to work out of GP
practices as close to their homes as possible, thereby reducing transport costs.
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Performance Analysis
Environmental and Social Sustainability Report continued
ICT and Informatics
The Information and Communications Technology (ICT) team delivers infrastructure,
support services and information sharing processes.
The CCG is working more closely than ever before with other health and care teams
and patient groups to support joined up care. This approach means we can:


increase awareness of information sharing for patients, including the need for
patients to ‘make a decision’ around sharing their records with health and care
professionals directly involved in their care

 continue to work with our providers by using available patient information such
as the Summary Care Record and expand it to include end of life information
where applicable
 support our colleagues to deliver safe, high quality and sustainable services
regardless of location, organisation or care setting by providing the technology
to support new ways of working, improving our network speeds and security to
help clinicians to access information swiftly and safely, and
 work with new technologies to support patient access to services and improve
health and wellbeing in our communities - some of the initiatives we are
currently supporting include patient access to online medical records and
repeat prescriptions, the ability of practices to send prescriptions electronically
to pharmacies and new online consultation and signposting technologies to
support patient access to GP services.
Adaptation to climate change
The CCG has developed emergency response plans and procedures to address
climate change and worked to raise awareness among its workforce in preparation for
dealing with climate change related incidents.
Social sustainability
Improving the health of those most in need and promoting self-care are two of the
CCG’s clinical priorities. Social sustainability is taken into account in our planning and
we have started working closely this year with the local county and borough councils
to make this more effective. During the year we have encouraged and supported
patient participation groups to share best practice. Our Communications and
Engagement Team and the volunteers from our Community Engagement Group
continue to make and maintain contacts with the communities we serve.
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Performance Analysis
Equality and Diversity Report
While we are confident the NHS services we commission are fair and accessible to
all, a person’s gender, age, race, disability, sexual orientation and religious beliefs will
be a factor in their care.
In line with the Equality Act 2012 we use the national Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
to ensure that we and our providers deliver better outcomes for the people of Suffolk.
This obliges us to make effective use of accurate data, communicate with our local
population and to provide consistency and leadership in our equality agenda.
This work is led by the CCG’s lay member for patient and public involvement with
support from the Community Engagement Partnership, a sub-committee of the board
drawn from members of the public.
A joint event in 2017/18 was overseen by Suffolk health care providers including the
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT), the Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust
(NSFT), the East of England Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) and Ipswich Hospital
NHS Trust (IHT). During this event patient representatives were asked to score the
partners on their achievements.
Objective 1
Patients and carers experience joined-up healthcare, ensuring access to the
right services at the right time.
Score: Achieving
Partnership working in several areas is paying dividends. The Connect project now
has teams working in 13 areas across Suffolk. The pilot scheme has seen police,
social care and healthcare teams finding new ways to work together so that patients
and carers get simpler access to care. More detail can be found here:
http://www.connectsuffolk.co.uk/
Objective 2
The CCG will improve use of equality data and information about Suffolk’s
diverse population and communities to inform its work.
Score: Developing

44. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Performance Analysis
Equality and Diversity Report continued
The CCG has a clear idea of which populations live and work in our area. Economic
migrants are a key focus for engagement in our Communications and Engagement
Strategy. All GP practices have been given IT support tools to enable them to deliver
services in line with the Information Access Standard.
All of the CCG’s published materials are available to order in braille and ‘easy read’
(large print) on request. Visitors to our website can enlarge print, change language and
change colour schemes for ease of reading.
Objective 3
The CCG will improve the way that the Governing Body and Clinical Executive
can learn from the healthcare experiences of diverse and marginalised
individuals, groups and carers.
Score: Developing
Patient stories are heard at every Governing Body meeting. One of the stories which
had the most impact came from a mental health service user who talked about her
experience of autism services, which have helped inform some of the Transforming
Care work being led by the Chief Nursing Officer.
Work continues to provide support for the health and emotional wellbeing of young
people. A strategy has been co-produced using direct input from children and young
people and has led to the development of a 24/7 helpline.
Objective 4
Senior leaders and other managers will provide leadership, support and
motivation for their staff to uphold the CCG’s value of equality of opportunity to
improve the health of those most in need.
Score: Achieving
All staff completed equality and diversity training and have equality and diversity
objectives in their Personal Development Plans.
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Performance Analysis
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)

Each September the CCG is required to participate in an annual Emergency
Preparedness, Resilience and Response [EPRR] assurance process against ‘core
standards’, through both peer review and subsequent sign off by the Local Health
Resilience Partnership and the CCG’s own Governing Body. This is the means by
which NHS England obtains assurance that NHS funded organisations are sufficiently
able to respond to emergencies.
For 2017/18 the CCG was assessed as ‘fully compliant’.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 May 2018
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Case Studies
Buurtzorg – testing a new model of
neighbourhood nursing
Partners in west Suffolk are working to test an innovative Dutch model of care at home
called Buurtzorg. In the Netherlands the Buurtzorg model has led to high patient
satisfaction, high staff satisfaction, a reduction in visits to A&E for patients and lower
costs of care per patient compared to the national average.
The Buurtzorg model empowers individuals – in this case nurses – to deliver all the
personal and health care patients need. By using highly qualified individuals to deliver
a more preventative approach to care the patients being supported are able to enjoy
a greater degree of independence.
Buurtzorg nurses work in self-managed teams of up to 12 and provide care for patients
in small localities. In Suffolk there is currently one team delivering this model of care
in the village of Barrow, near Bury St Edmunds.
The effectiveness of the model in an English health and care setting will be evaluated
along with feedback from the patients involved in the Barrow trial and their carers to
determine how the model is developed across west Suffolk in the future.
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Case Studies continued
‘Support to Go Home’ service
The ‘Support to Go Home’ service is a joint initiative between West Suffolk Hospital
and local social care services which was launched in September 2017. The carebridging service enables patients to go home at the earliest opportunity through
reablement assistance, providing the necessary support they require until their
selected care provider is able to take over responsibility for them on a pre-arranged
date.
The team which runs the service operates seven days a week from 7.30am to 10.00pm
and includes an occupational therapist, reablement support workers and a care coordinator.
The service is already proving beneficial to patients and their families by enabling
seamless, person-centred and effective discharges in a timely fashion. Patient and
family anxieties are reduced with the assistance of the ward-based care co-ordinator
who is able to provide assurance around individual care plans. The team aims to
maximise the patient’s independence within their own home, thereby reducing the
need for long-term care packages and the risk of re-admission to hospital.
Since its launch the service has supported over 250 people to get home at the earliest
opportunity with the appropriate care and support required.
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Case Studies continued

Record Sharing
Patients have had the option of sharing their records with other health and care
professionals since 2012. The CCG has been working with patients and providers to
increase the number of people consenting to share their GP records, a decision which
can ultimately save lives. As well as saving time for health and care professionals
when treating patients, consenting to share their records stops patients from having to
constantly repeat their details when information is requested from them.
There are different record sharing options to consider, and communicating this in an
open and transparent way is recognised nationally as being difficult:
Summary Care Record (SCR) – Core
Every patient was ‘opted in’ to the SCR about five years ago following a national public
awareness campaign. This level of sharing only gives professionals access to allergies
and medications. Patients have the option to add additional information to the SCR
Core such as end of life information, diagnosis, vaccinations etc. This is called the
Summary Care record with additional information (SCRai).
Primary Care Whole Patient Record
The existing consent form was confusing for patients as it only covered sharing of their
whole record. Patients wanted specific questions answered and for the information to
be presented in plain English. Working with patients and all 64 GP practices in east
and west Suffolk led to one form covering both SCRai and the Whole Patient Record.
Easy read and foreign language versions of the form have also been produced.
Following a major publicity campaign 37% of patients
across Suffolk have now consented to share, compared to
27% at the end of 2015. Patient participation groups
(PPGs) were visited in order to explain the importance of
patients giving their consent. They provided support by
attending practice flu clinics and waiting rooms to spread
the message.
The CCG’s web pages have been re-designed for ease of
reading and to signpost the public and GP practice staff to
further information if required. Text has also been
produced for individual GP practice websites, ensuring a
consistent message.
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Case Studies continued

As well as the consent form, a video created by NHS England, ‘Happy to Share’, was
made available to GP practices for use on their waiting room screens, on websites
and via social media.
Community Healthcare staff across east and west Suffolk support practices by
collecting consent forms from patients and returning them to GP surgeries. They are
happy to do this as a patient who has not consented to share their record can take up
to an hour longer to assess than one who has. The average assessment time for a
consenting patient is 20 minutes.
The Voluntary and Statutory Partnership (VASP), Suffolk County Council and
Healthwatch Suffolk have also been supportive of this work in a similar manner.
More events are planned, as well as additional materials for GP practices to display in
waiting rooms.
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Case Studies continued

Dementia Together
The CCG is committed to co-production when designing new services and worked
closely with the Suffolk User Forum and Suffolk Parent Carers Network on these two
projects to make sure we understood the views and needs of service users.

Dementia Together
The CCG continues to support and promote the early diagnosis of dementia and to
ensure patients with the disease are recorded on GP registers. We are also working
to establish more ‘Dementia Friendly Practices’ across our area.
The Dementia Together service to support people concerned about or living with
dementia, their carers and professionals, was launched in April 2017 and has so far
supported more than 1,000 people. It was awarded the CCG & Local Authority
Integrated Commissioning for Carers Award at the 2017 Health Service Journal
Awards.

The service offers a single point of contact so that people only have to tell their story
once, and works together with local community services to provide co-ordinated,
responsive support for individuals at every step of the way – whether that’s general
information about dementia, connecting them with others who understand, or planning
for the future.
The Dementia Together service was developed after consultations with service users,
carers and service providers via a series of workshops, and in response to concerns
that it was hard to understand and navigate support and advice services.
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Case Studies continued

“Prior to the launch of the Dementia Together service, the memory assessment
service was making referrals and signposting families to a multitude of different
agencies. This was not only time consuming, but also made pathways difficult for
service users, their families and carers to navigate.
“Now there is just one phone number for everyone and Dementia Together makes
the necessary referrals to other services, enabling our practitioners to refocus on
our core business. We can now provide some much needed post-diagnostic
psychological support for some of our service users” - NSFT Clinical Team Leader.

Dr Roz Tandy, GP and dementia lead for NHS West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group, said: “It is certainly pleasing that this new
partnership approach to delivering dementia care and support has
received national recognition. Since its launch, almost 500 people have
used the service and we know from feedback that it is making a positive
difference to the lives of those living with and affected by dementia”.
“When the service was being developed we heard from patients,
families and carers that they were overwhelmed by the range of help
available and were unsure of whom to approach. This new service has
removed that uncertainty by bringing all that expertise to one easily
accessible place.
“I am proud of the success of Dementia Together and how it is helping
people live well with dementia for longer.”
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Case Studies continued

Stroke Service
The radical turnaround of stroke services across the NHS West Suffolk and NHS
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG areas was recognised with a national award in July
2017.
The CCGs scooped the Healthcare Transformation Award for Innovation in Improving
Outcomes and Reducing Variation at the Health Service Journal Awards.

The award highlighted the transformation of stroke services over the past four years,
with Suffolk now having the lowest level of premature stroke mortality in the country
when compared to similar areas.
Over 1,000 people in Suffolk suffer a stroke each year. Now every stroke patient has
access to a consultant stroke specialist and rehabilitation team within 24 hours, seven
days a week. Care does not stop at the hospital door, with patients being able to
access services after they have been discharged. These rehabilitation services include
speech and language therapy, physiotherapy and clinical psychology.
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Case Studies continued

“Four years ago the CCGs established the Suffolk Stroke Review Board, a
collaboration of local health partners, to tackle the very real issue of local
people not being able to access the stroke services they deserved.
“Partnership working has been key to our success since 2014 when we
started asking local people to tell us how things should change. The
feedback they gave us has directly shaped stroke services in Suffolk today.”
Dr Christopher Browning, Chairman, NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group.

“This collaboration continues to improve stroke care for all patients and
carers in Suffolk. Working closely with the CCGs and Ipswich Hospital,
seven-day-a-week working has become normal practice in the acute hospitals
for multiple disciplines including physiotherapy, occupational therapy and
stroke medicine. The early supported discharge service provides further
ongoing stroke therapy at home for patients after discharge.
“We are committed to ensuring the best outcomes for our patients, and this
award is a testament to the collaborative work of healthcare partners across
Suffolk who have done just that.”
Dr Anne Nicolson, stroke services lead at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust and
Suffolk Stroke Services.
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Case Studies continued
Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Children’s
Services
The CCG continues to work closely with its partners to improve health outcomes for
children and young people and those with mental health issues via the Suffolk Mentally
Healthy Communities Board, the Suffolk Children’s Alliance and the Children’s
Emotional Wellbeing Group.
We are working towards greater integration of mental health services with the broader
system and continue to work closely with the Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust (NSFT) to review how we work and make changes where necessary.
We have worked in co-production with NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG, West Suffolk
CCG, Suffolk County Council, health and care organisations, charities, schools, young
people and Suffolk Parent Carer Network to develop service models for Children,
young people and families.

In 2017/2018 highlights have included:


development of the Emotional Wellbeing Hub, a multi-agency single point of
access for children’s mental health and emotional wellbeing which is key to our
strategy and focus on prevention and early intervention
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Case Studies continued














taking a proactive look at the Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust (NSFT)’s
access and assessment function and crisis response for adults, children and
young people.
expanding psychiatric liaison services based at West Suffolk Hospital to provide
support for people with mental health needs across wards and the emergency
department
improving the Suffolk Wellbeing Service’s offer for children, young people and
families
commissioning a specialist community perinatal mental health service provided
by NSFT to work collaboratively with the specialist perinatal midwives at West
Suffolk Hospital to provide direct support and interventions for women with
severe perinatal mental health presentations. An additional bid for funding to
NHS England in March 2018 for funds to support women with mild to moderate
mental health presentations was also successful
commissioning health content for The Source – a website resource for young
people
making £100,000 in recurrent funding available to a number of voluntary sector
initiatives that support young people and their families, including Noise
Solutions, Anglia Care Trust, Fresh Start New Beginnings and Homestart. We
have also commissioned Suffolk Community Foundation to run and award a
second Children’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Grant bidding process for
£200,000 focused on early intervention and prevention services
commissioning in April 2017 of the Marginalised and Vulnerable Peoples
Service to offer care for those who find it hard to access mainstream services
working in partnership with NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG and Suffolk
County Council to commission services through the Mental Health Pooled Fund
- this year a new information service called IAGES provided in partnership with
Suffolk Libraries, Suffolk Family Carers and Suffolk MIND has been
commissioned to provide information, advice, guidance and emotional support
to people living in Suffolk. Suffolk Libraries are increasing resources and rolling
out Open Space wellbeing groups with NSFT and Julian Support.
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Continuing Healthcare
The Continuing Healthcare (CHC) Team has continued to build on the successes of
the last two years to provide an exemplary service to patients.
Working with health and social care partners the team has implemented the ‘Discharge
to Assess’ initiative which enables patients to be assessed outside of a hospital
setting, shortening inpatient stays and providing a more accurate assessment of their
needs. Fast Track applications are now validated within four hours.
Dedicated social workers are aligned to the team which has speeded up the time taken
for patients to be assessed and improved the re-assessment process.

“Overall patients now get a
faster, more tailored service
with care and efficiency”
Dr Simon Arthur, GP and
Governing Body Member

Feedback from relatives has included:


The daughter of a patient phoning to thank the commissioning and case
management team for their work and input in sourcing care and support for
keeping her mother at home for end of life care, which was her wish



The son of a patient who sadly passed away phoning to thank the whole team
for all the ongoing support we given to them and their father.



The son of a patient emailing to say: “May I take this opportunity to thank you
and the CHC team for the support which was an enormous help to my family
in the last months of mum’s life”, and



The son of a patient who emailed to say: “My father died yesterday. On his
behalf I wish to thank you and the NHS for all of the help and care that you
made available to him.”
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Diabetes
Diabetes patients across west Suffolk are receiving “outstanding” care, according to
the results of an independent review.
The CCG received the top rating for 2016/17 following an assessment by an
independent panel.
The ratings show that more patients across Suffolk than ever before are getting the
support they need to control their diabetes.The rating came after new initiatives were
introduced across west Suffolk to ensure patients living with type 2 diabetes get the
care and support they need, including the introduction of specialist nurses.
The CCG has taken a number of steps to improve, including:


introducing a community diabetes service which sees specialist diabetes
nurses from West Suffolk Hospital working alongside 19 GP practices to advise
patients how to better manage their condition closer to home, and



training GP practice staff to carry out thorough annual checks so they can treat
or signpost diabetes patients more effectively.

Dr Christopher Browning, Chair of NHS West Suffolk CCG, said: “We have put
considerable effort into making services for patients better, and we are
delighted that this has been recognised.
“Uncontrolled diabetes can lead to unnecessary hospital admissions and,
if left unchecked, complications such as heart disease, stroke, visual
impairment, kidney failure, and amputation of a foot or toes.
“That is why it is vitally important to monitor patients closely and provide
them with the right education to help them successfully manage their
condition themselves.
“Despite these excellent results, we are not complacent and will be
working hard to improve still further by rolling out our education
programmes more widely and ensuring patients have the necessary skills
to self-care and stay well for longer.”
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Suffolk Perinatal Service (SPS)
The recently launched Suffolk Perinatal Service (SPS) has been awarded extra
funding - meaning its capacity to support women with moderate to severe mental
health issues will almost treble.
The service, provided by NSFT and officially launched in February 2018, received
£366,000 from NHS England’s Community Services Development Fund after a
successful bid for funding in conjunction with the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG.
SPS provides specialist care to women with conditions such as post and ante-natal
depression and psychosis, during pregnancy and up to a year after birth.
Dr Rosalind Tandy, a GP in Bury St Edmunds and mental health lead for
NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group, said: “It’s obvious that
there is great confidence in how effective this service is for mothers
with mental health issues. It is certainly pleasing that this extra funding
has been awarded so soon after the service was launched.
"We know from feedback from service users that the care and support
received from the SPS has been phenomenal and in fact, for many, it
has been life-changing.
“Pregnancy and motherhood can be joyful but of course not everyone
has this experience. This service is so vital in supporting women to
enjoy this time of their lives as best as they can.”

The NSFT team works closely with maternity staff at West Suffolk Hospital as well as
health visitors in the community and social services to ensure every woman receives
a comprehensive and effective package of joined-up care.
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Case Studies continued

Learning Disability Nurses
The CCG works to improve the care and management of people with learning
disabilities at primary care level, particularly around their uptake of health checks.
NSFT’s Learning Disability Primary Care Liaison Nurses have been working with GP
practices across the county for two years. Their role is to advise and support practices
around the needs of adults with learning disabilities through awareness raising and
targeted training. They have worked closely with practice staff to support the
development of learning disability registers, annual health checks and health action
planning, as well as supporting practices with individuals who may have additional,
complex needs.
The nurses will spend 2018/19 visiting every single GP practice to provide in-house
training sessions to further develop practice confidence.
We have commissioned from NSFT a new Adult Learning Disability Intensive
Community Support Team and a Children’s Learning Disability Service.
http://www.eadt.co.uk/news/specialist-learning-disability-nurses-now-havepermanent-place-in-suffolk-gp-surgeries-after-successful-pilot-1-5071300
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Section 2
The Accountability Report
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Member Practices Report
In partnership with member practices the CCG has developed a strategy to guide the
development of primary care.
The key elements of the strategy include:


developing a new Model of Care to encourage primary care partnership
working and deliver joined up care across Suffolk;



reducing workload and optimising patient care;



caring for every professional and every patient;



improving patient access to GP-led services to support patients and
promote self-care;



creating environments for future care needs by enabling digital connectivity
for patients and professionals;



stimulating transformation by delivering high impact changes, and



co-producing strategy and plans with clinical leaders, patients, members of
the public and our partners to enable excellence in delivery with
management support.

This strategy has been further developed through our GP Forward View Operational
Plan, which NHS England has rated as “green”.
Every year the CCG takes part in a national ‘360 stakeholder survey’ which is run by
IPSOS Mori. The survey helps the CCG develop internally and improve its
relationships with others. Some 83% of GP members responded to the survey.
Stakeholders were asked a series of questions about their working relationship with
the CCG. In addition, to reflect their different areas of expertise and knowledge they
were presented with a short series of questions specific to the stakeholder group they
represented.
The survey was conducted between 15th January and 28th February 2018 and was
completed by 37 of the CCG’s stakeholders, including every GP member practice. The
overall response rate was 86%.
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Member Practices Report continued
Of those stakeholders who responded:


95% reported an effective working relationship with the CCG;



81% felt that the CCG considered the views of patients and the public in its
commissioning decisions;



86% had confidence in the CCG to commission high quality services that
demonstrate value for money;



89% knew ‘a great deal’ or ‘a fair amount’ about the CCG’s plans and priorities;



70% said they had been given the opportunity to influence CCG plans and
priorities;



84% felt there was clear and visible leadership from the CCG across the local
NHS system, and



97% said that if they had concerns about the quality of local services they
would feel able to raise them with the CCG.

While the results of the 2017/18 survey are encouraging we know we still need to do
more and will draw up an action plan to help us deliver improvements.
We will focus on clearly demonstrating where action has been taken in response to
queries or concerns, enhancing engagement in the development of plans and priorities
and ensuring the visibility and accessibility of the whole leadership team.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 May 2018
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
List Member Practices Report

This section sets out details of the member practices of the CCG, together with the
composition of each of the Membership Bodies.

Angel Hill Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

The Long Melford Practice

Stanton Surgery

Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall

Botesdale Health Centre

Mount Farm Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Brandon Medical Practice

Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket

Haverhill Family Practice

Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket

Christmas Maltings & Clements Practice, Haverhill

The Rookery Medical Centre, Newmarket

Forest Surgery, Brandon

Siam Surgery, Sudbury

Glemsford Surgery

Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Guildhall Surgery, Clare

Reynard Surgery, Mildenhall

Guildhall and Barrow Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Hardwicke House Group Practice, Sudbury

Wickhambrook Surgery

Lakenheath Surgery

Woolpit Health Centre
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Composition of Governing Body

The Governing Body Membership was made up of 10 men and 6 women

Dr Ed Garratt, Accountable Officer
Dr Garratt is Chief Officer for both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS West
Suffolk clinical commissioning groups. He was previously Chief Operating Officer of the NHS
West Suffolk CCG and has worked in the NHS for more than 11 years, both at a regional
level in commissioning and in helping to develop the NHS Constitution. He also worked on
the policy development associated with the government’s NHS reforms of 2012. Dr Garratt
holds a Doctorate from the University of Cambridge.

Dr Christopher Browning, GP Chair
Dr Browning is the Chair of West Suffolk CCG and is a GP appraiser with 11 years experience
in hospital medicine and 14 years as a GP. He has had operational experience in the out-ofhours service and many years’ experience representing his GP colleagues on the Local
Medical Committee.

Dr Zohra Armitage, GP and Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds locality
Dr Armitage is an experienced GP. She has had various clinical and management
responsibilities within
different
practices
and the
CCG. Her
clinical
interests
include adolescent health, sexual health and end of life care. When not at work she is a busy
mum and wife, and enjoys running and reading.

Dr Simon Arthur, GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath locality
Dr Arthur has been a GP in Suffolk for 25 years and is the lead partner at Oakfield Surgery
in Newmarket. He is the CCG’s lead on out-of-hours and community services, end of life
commissioning and the NHS111 service.
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Composition of Governing Body continued

Steve Chicken, Lay Board Member
Steve Chicken joined the CCG’s Governing Body in early 2017 as lay member. He also
works for Ipswich and East CCG in the same capacity. Steve has held senior roles in
global manufacturing businesses and is a specialist in continuous improvement. He
and his wife have lived in Suffolk for 18 years as do his parents, grown children and
grandchild.

Geoff Dobson, Lay Board Member (Corporate Governance)
Geoff Dobson provides strategic and impartial advice on financial management issues to
make sure the CCG meets its statutory guidelines and carries out its work according to
nationally agreed standards. He oversees key aspects of corporate governance including
audit, remuneration and managing conflicts of interest. Geoff worked in local government
finance for more than four decades, most recently as Suffolk County Council’s Director of
Resource Management.

Jo Finn, Lay Board Member (Patient and Public Engagement)
Jo Finn has worked in the NHS, in public services and in related educational and
development areas for over 40 years. She has worked both regionally and nationally.
For eight years Jo was Chief Executive of West Suffolk Hospital NHS Trust. She
originally graduated in mathematics at University College London and joined the NHS
from the national graduate management training scheme.
.

Dr Andrew Hassan, GP and Lead for Blackbourne Locality
Dr Hassan qualified from Sheffield, entered General Practice in 1980 and was a senior
partner at Avicenna surgery in Hopton until retirement from practice in 2015. He has
also served as the Chairman of the Bury St Edmunds PCG, PEC Chair and Board
Member for Suffolk West PCT; Chair of the Individual Funding Panel and Clinical
Priorities Group for the joint management team of the Suffolk CCGs and Medical
Director of NHS Suffolk until 2013.

Chris Hooper, Acting Chief Nursing Officer
From July 2017
Chris’ career in the NHS started in the early 1980’s, initially as a porter and health care
assistant, qualifying as a Registered Nurse in 1987. During his nursing career he has
worked as both a Ward Manager and Clinical Nurse Specialist and in more recent years
he has worked in senior nursing positions covering both elective and emergency care
pathways in acute trusts before moving into a senior commissioning role some four
years ago.
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Amanda Lyes, Chief Corporate Service Officer
Amanda has an NHS career spanning 20 years. Her portfolio encompasses HR, IM&T,
corporate governance and information governance. Her strengths lie in the field of
change management, organisational development and employee relations. She is an
experienced board member having held board level positions in other NHS
organisations. She is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development
and holds an MSc in Human Resource Management.
.

Barbara McLean, Chief Nursing Officer
On secondment since July 2017
Barbara McLean was Chief Nurse until July 2017, with responsibility for improving quality
and patient experience. A qualified nurse, she has also served as Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Nurse for the Cambridge and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust and as
Director of Nursing for the Suffolk Mental Health Partnership.

Jane Payling, Chief Finance Officer (from September 2017)
Jane is the Chief Finance Officer for both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS West
Suffolk clinical commissioning groups. She previously worked at CIPFA (Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) as Head of Health and Integration. This
followed 10 years as Director of Finance at Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
where Jane was part of the team which secured the go ahead for the New Papworth
Hospital. She joined the NHS in 1992, and has worked in a variety of NHS roles across
East Anglia.

Dr Bahram Talebpour, GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury locality
Dr Talebpour has been a GP in Sudbury since 2012, and has been on the Governing
Body since 2016. He leads on Planned Care for the CCG.

Jan Thomas, Chief Contracts Officer
Jan Thomas has over 20 years’ experience working in and with the NHS. Starting her
career as a nurse, she has worked in acute NHS hospitals and senior roles in private
sector healthcare.
On Secondment to NHS Cambridge and Peterborough CCG (November 2017-May
2018)
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Kate Vaughton, Chief Operating Officer
Kate joined the NHS in September 2001 and has gained extensive knowledge from
working across various NHS organisations. Prior to joining WSCCG Kate was working at
NHS North East Essex CCG as Chief Operating Officer playing an active role as a board
member contributing to the development of the vision, aims and business objectives of
the CCG.

Dr Firas Watfeh, GP and Lead for Haverhill locality
Dr Watfeh is a GP partner at The Haverhill Family Practice. He is the GP lead for
prescribing and has keen interest in dermatology. He represents his GP colleagues on
the LMC Board.

Richard Watson, Chief Transformation Officer
Richard has worked across the NHS and local government in a variety of roles, most
recently at NHS Enfield CCG where he led on the redesign of clinical services. He has
also been an elected local councillor and cabinet member within a London borough where
he led on community safety, leisure and libraries. He is passionate about improving
outcomes and managing complex service redesign in partnership with other
stakeholders.

Jane Webster, Acting Chief Contracts Officer (from November 2017)
Jane’s career in the NHS commenced in 1981 when she trained as a nurse in Norfolk.
She remained in clinical roles within the NHS, specialising in complex brain injury, later
becoming the clinical lead for continuing care in Norfolk. Her interest in commissioning
arose with the launch of primary care trusts and the development of ‘world class
commissioning’. After completing a masters in commissioning and contracting, Jane has
worked for both providers and clinical commissioning groups. Her mantra to counter
views that contracting is technical and complex is: `Contracting is easy, you just need to
remember to keep talking`.
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Governing Body Members who have resigned during the year

Chris Armitt, Acting Chief Finance Officer
Resigned October 2017

Bill Banks, Vice Chair and Lay Board Member (Governance)
Resigned August 2017

Kevin Bernard, Practice Manager
Resigned December 2017

Dr Emma Holland, GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
Resigned 31 October 2017

Dr Sarah Hughes, GP and Lead for Bury St. Edmunds Locality
Resigned 31 October 2017

Dr Crawford Jamieson, Secondary Care Doctor
Resigned 30 July 2017
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Clinical Scrutiny Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Chris Armitt – acting Chief Finance Officer until October 2017
Dr Simon Arthur
Bill Banks - resigned as Governing Body member August 2017
Kevin Bernard - resigned as Governing Body member December 2017
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson – from September 2017
Dr Christopher Browning (Chair)
Johanna Finn
Dr Ed Garratt
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Emma Holland - resigned as Governing Body member 31 October 2017
Chris Hooper
Dr Sarah Hughes - resigned as Governing Body member 31 October 2017
Crawford Jamieson - resigned as Governing Body member 30 July 2017
David Kanka
Amanda Lyes
Barbara McLean – on secondment July 2017
Jane Payling – Chief Finance Officer from September 2017
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Jan Thomas - on secondment November 2017
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Jane Webster – Acting Chief Contracts Officer from November 2017
Commissioning Governance Committee
Chris Armitt – Acting Chief Finance Officer until October 2017
Bill Banks – resigned as Governing Body member August 2017
Dr Ed Garratt
Geoff Dobson (Chair) – from September 2017
Johanna Finn
Jane Payling – Chief Finance Officer from September 2017
Jan Thomas - on secondment November 2017
Jane Webster – Acting Chief Contracts Officer from November 2017
Remuneration and Human Resources (HR) Committee
Bill Banks - resigned as Governing Body member August 2017
Dr Christopher Browning
Geoff Dobson (Chair) – from September 2017
Johanna Finn
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CCG Collaborative (Committee of West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG)
Bill Banks – resigned as Governing Body member August 2017
Dr Christopher Browning
Geoff Dobson – from September 2017
Dr Ed Garratt
Graham Leaf
Dr Mark Shenton
Martin Smith (Independent Chair).
Financial Performance Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Chris Armitt – Acting Chief Finance Officer until October 2017
Dr Simon Arthur
Bill Banks - resigned as Governing Body member August 2017
Kevin Bernard - resigned as Governing Body member December 2017
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken (Chair)
Geoff Dobson – from September 2017
Johanna Finn
Dr Ed Garratt
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Emma Holland - resigned as Governing Body member 31 October 2017
Chris Hooper
Dr Sarah Hughes - resigned as Governing Body member 31 October 2017
Crawford Jamieson - resigned as Governing Body member 30 July 2017
David Kanka
Amanda Lyes
Barbara McLean – on secondment July 2017
Jane Payling – Chief Finance Officer from September 2017
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Jan Thomas - on secondment November 2017
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Jane Webster – Acting Chief Contracts Officer from November 2017
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Community Engagement Partnership
David Taylor (Chair)
Johanna Finn (Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement)
Kate Vaughton (Chief Operating Officer)
Isabel Cockayne (Head of Communications) – seconded to EEAST since Jan 2018
John Troup (Acting Head of Communications) – temporarily replacing IC (above)
Jane Ballard (Suffolk Congress)
David Dawson
Marion Fairman-Smith
Carol Mansell
Margaret Marks
Chrissy Marshall
Graeme Morris
Anne Nicholls
Peter Owen
Jon Rapley
Michael Simpkin
Gill Jones (Healthwatch Suffolk)
Audit Committee
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
The following are in attendance at the Audit Committee:





Representatives from Finance
Representatives from External Audit
Representatives from Internal Audit
Representatives from Counter Fraud

Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Chris Armitt – Acting Chief Finance Officer until October 2017
Bill Banks – resigned as Governing Body member August 2017
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson – from September 2017
Johanna Finn (Chair)
Dr Ed Garratt
Jane Payling – Chief Finance Officer from September 2017
Jan Thomas - on secondment November 2017
Kate Vaughton
Jane Webster – Acting Chief Contracts Officer from November 2017
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Register of Interests 2017/18
The Register of Interests document can be found on the NHS West Suffolk CCG
website HERE

Personal data related incidents
There were no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, and
therefore none reported to the Information Commissioner.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:


so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes
of their audit report



the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order
to make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS West Suffolk CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate
modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for
producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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External Audit and Complaints
External Audit
The CCG’s external auditor is Ernst and Young and the cost of services provided by
them in 2017/18 was £65,628. Work undertaken was purely in the provision of
statutory audit services.
Principles for Remedy
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman has issued six Principles for
Remedy when handling complaints.
These principles set out for complainants and bodies within the Parliamentary and
Health Ombudsman’s jurisdiction how they think public bodies should put things
right when they have gone wrong - as well as its approach to recommending
remedies.
The Principles for Remedy are:
1. Getting it right.
2. Being customer focused.
3. Being open and accountable.
4. Acting fairly and proportionately.
5. Putting things right.
6. Seeking continuous improvement.
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Patient Advice & Liaison Service (PALS)
Complaints and Compliments
The Patient Experience Team is responsible for the oversight of complaints and
compliments. This includes issues raised by GP practices in the GP contract issues
log as well as issues raised through the PALS.
Between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 the team received a total of 179 complaints,
88 of which related to WSCCG. The CCG’s target response timescale for responding
to complaints is 25 working days. However, in cases where the timescale cannot be
met, a revised timescale is agreed.
Two complaints were received during 2017/18 that were referred to the Parliamentary
and Health Service Ombudsman.
There were 41 letters received from MPs relating to both CCGs, 20 of which related
to WSCCG.
PALS
PALS provides information and advice on NHS services, non-emergency hospital
transport and community health services within Suffolk.
The main aim of PALS is to resolve problems and concerns for people using NHS
services before they become a major issue. It also acts as an early warning system by
monitoring and highlighting any problems or gaps in service provision.
The total number of contacts between patients and the PALS service in 2017/18 was
2,161. This included 739 relating to WSCCG patients.
The main themes prompting contacts included changes to items available on
prescription, requests for non-emergency transport for bariatric patients and to noncontracted locations and GP concerns/registrations.

75. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Corporate Governance Report
Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of West Suffolk CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:










The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group
and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of
the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed
each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial
statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial
statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure,
changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply
with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of
Health and in particular to:







Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
statements; and,
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities
set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public
Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment
Letter.
I also confirm that:


As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken
all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that
information;



that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report
and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair,
balanced and understandable.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 May 2018
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Salaries and Allowances 2017/18

Period in Office

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
Kate Vaughton
Barbara McLean
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Chris Armitt
Jan Thomas
Jane Webster
Richard Watson
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Firas Watfeh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Dr Emma Holland
Dr Sarah Hughes
Kevin Bernard
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Geoff Dobson
Johanna Finn
Stephen Chicken

Chief Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Redesign Officer
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Chair of the Individual Funding Panel & Clinical Priorities Group
GP and Lead for Sudbury and Haverhill Locality
GP representing Sudbury & Haverhill Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement
Lay Member

Management
Delivery
Team
Yes/No
Note 1
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

From

To

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/07/2017
01/04/2017
25/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
20/11/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017

31/03/2018
31/03/2018
28/07/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
22/09/2018
17/11/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/10/2017
31/10/2017
31/12/2017
30/06/2017
31/08/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018

45 - 50
90 - 95
30 - 35
25 - 30
35 - 40
15 - 20
15 - 20
25 - 30
10 - 15
30 - 40
75 - 80
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
0-5
5 - 10
5 - 10
10 - 15
5 - 10

2017/18
Long-term
Performance Performance
Related
Pay and
Expense
Bonuses
Bonuses
Payments
(bands of
(bands of
(taxable) to
£5,000)
£5,000)
nearest £100
£000
£000
£00
1
3
0
1
1
0
0
1
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
Note 2
10 - 12.5
52.5 - 55
0 - 2.5
35 - 37.5
7.5 - 10
10 - 15
12.5 - 15
7.5 - 10
5 - 7.5
12.5 - 15
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Management
Delivery Team
Total Salary
(bands of
Total (bands
£5,000)
of £5,000)
£000
£000
Note 1
125 - 130
55 - 60
N/A
145 - 150
90 - 95
35 - 40
60 - 65
60 - 65
95 - 100
45 - 50
45 - 50
30 - 35
50 - 55
30 - 35
110 - 115
35 - 40
35 - 40
15 - 20
95 - 100
50 - 55
N/A
75 - 80
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
0-5
N/A
5 - 10
N/A
5 - 10
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
5 - 10

Remuneration and Staff Report – Remuneration Report
Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
The below relates to the 2017/18 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Chief Finance Officer:- Chris Armitt held the position of Acting Chief Finance Officer until
22nd September 2017 and then left the CCG on 20th October 2017. Jane Payling was
appointed as Chief Finance Officer on 25th September 2017.
Chief Nursing Officer:- Barbara McLean held the position of Chief Nursing Officer until
the 28th July 2017. Chris Hooper was subsequently appointed Acting Chief Nursing
Officer on the 31st July 2017.
Chief Contracts Officer:- Jan Thomas was in the position of Chief Contracts Officer until
the 17th November 2017, at which point she was then seconded to NHS Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough CCG. Jane Webster was appointed as Acting Chief Contracts Officer
on the 20th November 2017.
GP Membership:
Dr Emma Holland and Dr Sarah Hughes both resigned from the Governing body during
the year.
Lay Membership:
William Banks resigned as a lay member during the year and was replaced by Geoff
Dobson.
Practice Manager Lead:
Kevin Bernard resigned as the Practice Manager Lead during the year.
Note 1 – Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCG's in the proportion: Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG 62.10% (2016/17 - 62.10%) - West Suffolk CCG 37.90% (2016/17
- 37.90%). The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted Chief
Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to West Suffolk CCG the
table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As West Suffolk CCG host
the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these pay
costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG's
accounts and not as payroll costs.
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Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:





PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from data
received from NHS Pensions.
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Salaries and Allowances 2016/17

Period in Office

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
Julian Herbert
Barbara McLean
Amanda Lyes
Carl Goulton
Lesley Macleod
Lesley Macleod
Jan Thomas
Kate Vaughton
Andrew Eley
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rosalind Tandy
Dr Andrew Yager
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Firas Watfeh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Peter Knights
Kevin Bernard
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Johanna Finn
Stephen Chicken

Chief Officer
Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Interim Chief Finance Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Acting Chief Operating Officer
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Lead for Blackbourne Locality
GP and Chair of the Individual Funding Panel & Clinical Priorities Group
GP and Lead for Sudbury and Haverhill Locality
GP representing Sudbury & Haverhill Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement
Lay Member

Management
Delivery
Team
Yes/No
Note 1
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

From

To

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
31/05/2016
09/12/2016
01/04/2016
08/09/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/07/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
17/01/2017

31/03/2017
30/04/2016
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/05/2016
08/12/2016
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
07/09/2016
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
30/06/2016
31/10/2016
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017

45 - 50
5 - 10
30 - 35
35 - 40
30 - 35
45 - 50
10 - 15
40 - 45
45 - 50
40 - 45
75 - 80
30 - 35
5 - 10
15 - 20
30 - 35
30 - 35
20 - 25
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
0-5

2016/17
Long-term
Performance Performance
Expense
Pay and
Related
Payments
Bonuses
Bonuses
(taxable) to
(bands of
(bands of
nearest £100
£5,000)
£5,000)
£00
£000
£000
1
0
1
1
0
0
0
1
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
Note 2
37.5 - 40
0 - 2.5
12.5 - 15
15 - 17.5
0 - 2.5
0
0
15 - 17.5
60 - 62.5
32.5 - 35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Management
Delivery Team
Total Salary
Total (bands
(bands of
of £5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
Note 1
85 - 90
125 - 130
5 - 10
10 - 15
45 - 50
90 - 95
50 - 55
95 - 100
30 - 35
85 - 90
45 - 50
120 - 125
10 - 15
35 - 40
55 - 60
105 - 110
110 - 115
N/A
75 - 80
N/A
75 - 80
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
5 - 10
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
20 - 25
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
0-5
N/A
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The below relates to the 2016/17 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Chief Operating Officer:
Andrew Eley performed the role of Acting Chief Operating Officer until 7th September
2016. Kate Vaughton was appointed to the role on 8th September 2016.
Management Delivery Team:
Chief Officer: Julian Herbert relinquished his duties on 18th March 2016 and left the CCG
on 30th April 2016. Dr Edmund Garratt was appointed to the role on 21st March 2016.
Chief Finance Officer: - Carl Goulton left the CCG on 31st May 2016. Lesley Macleod
was appointed as Interim Chief Finance Officer on 31st May 2016 and then as Chief
Finance Officer on 9th December 2016. Lesley left the CCG on 31st March 2017.
GP Membership:
Dr Andrew Yager & Dr Rosalind Tandy resigned from the Governing Body during the
year. Dr Bahram Talebpour joined the Governing Body during the year.
Lay Membership:
Stephen Chicken joined the CCG as a Lay Member on 17th January 2017.
Note 1 - Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCG's in the proportion: Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG 62.10% (2015/16 - 62.80%) - West Suffolk CCG 37.90% (2015/16
- 37.20%). The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted Chief
Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to West Suffolk CCG the
table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As West Suffolk CCG host
the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these pay
costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG's
accounts and not as payroll costs.
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables

Note 2 - All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:





PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from data
received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions data
received includes contributions from other employment sources.
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables (Subject to audit)
Pension Benefits 2017/18

Name
Dr Edmund Garratt
Barbara McLean
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Chris Armitt
Jan Thomas
Jane Webster
Madeleine Baker-Woods
Richard Watson

Period in Office

Title
Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Redesign Officer

From
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/07/2017
01/04/2017
25/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
20/11/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017

To
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
22/09/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
lump sum
at aged 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension
at 31
March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5

£000
-2.5 - 0
0 - 2.5
12.5 - 15
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
2.5 - 5
-2.5 - 0
0 - 2.5
0
0

£000
20 - 25
35 - 40
30 - 35
35 - 40
35 - 40
15 - 20
10 - 15
30 - 35
10 - 15
15 - 20

£000
45 - 50
115 - 120
90 - 95
100 - 105
60 - 65
30 - 35
15 - 20
95 - 100
0
0

No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Name
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Firas Watfeh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Dr Emma Holland
Dr Sarah Hughes
Kevin Bernard
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Geoff Dobson
Johanna Finn
Stephen Chicken

Title
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Chair of the Individual Funding Panel & Clinical Priorities Group
GP and Lead for Sudbury and Haverhill Locality
GP representing Sudbury & Haverhill Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP representing Bury St Edmunds Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement
Lay Member
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Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2018

£000
249
770
461
580
417
141
133
601
109
99

£000
290
837
605
644
450
178
158
668
137
127

Real
increase/
decrease Employer’s
in Cash contribution
Equivalent
to
Transfer stakeholder
Value
pension
£000
38
59
93
59
15
20
24
22
27
27

£00
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables (Subject to audit)
Pension Benefits 2016/17

Name
Dr Edmund Garratt
Julian Herbert
Kate Vaughton
Andrew Eley
Barbara McLean
Amanda Lyes
Carl Goulton
Jan Thomas

Period in Office

Title
Chief Officer
Chief Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Acting Chief Operating Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer

From
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
08/09/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016

No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Name
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rosalind Tandy
Dr Andrew Yager
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Firas Watfeh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Peter Knights
Kevin Bernard
Dr Crawford Jamieson
Lesley Macleod
William Banks
Johanna Finn
Stephen Chicken

Title
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Lead for Blackbourne Locality
GP and Chair of the Individual Funding Panel & Clinical Priorities Group
GP and Lead for Sudbury and Haverhill Locality
GP representing Sudbury & Haverhill Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Chief Finance Officer
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement
Lay Member

To
31/03/2017
30/04/2016
31/03/2017
07/09/2016
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/05/2016
31/03/2017

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
lump sum
at aged 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2017
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension
at 31
March
2017
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

£000
5 - 7.5
0 - 2.5
5 - 7.5
2.5 - 5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

£000
20 - 25
20 - 25
15 - 20
25 - 30
35 - 40
35 - 40
5 - 10
5 - 10

£000
45 - 50
60 - 65
40 - 45
85 - 90
110 - 115
100 - 105
0-5
15 - 20

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2016

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2017

£000
194
362
137
474
719
541
60
103

£000
249
375
199
548
770
580
67
133

Real
increase/
decrease Employer’s
in Cash contribution
Equivalent
to
Transfer stakeholder
Value
pension
£000
55
1
35
32
51
39
1
30

£00
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Changes in SCAPE Discount Rate for Pensions
On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a
change in the Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past
Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from 3.0% to 2.8%. This rate affects
the calculation of CETV figures in this report.
Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and prepare
annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this report for members of
the NHS Pension scheme are based on the previous discount rate and
have not been recalculated.
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Remuneration policy
Policy on remuneration of senior managers
The policy for the remuneration of senior managers was operated in accordance with
Agenda for Change and it is intended to continue with this policy for future years. The
pay for both the Chief Officer and the Chief Finance Officer was in accordance with
recently published national guidance. The remainder of the senior managers are paid on
the VSM (very senior manager) grade, all salaries have been nationally benchmarked.

Remuneration Committee
Page 71 provides the members of the Remuneration Committee.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
No senior manager of the CCG is paid more than £150,000 per annum.

Senior managers’ performance related pay
There is no element of pay that is performance related.

Policy on senior managers’ contracts
All staff including senior managers (up to and including Band 9) follow the national terms
and conditions of service pertaining to notice periods. The maximum period of notice
under Agenda for Change is 3 months. Chief Officers are appointed in accordance with
the VSM framework and have a notice period built into their contract or employment for
six months.

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office
(subject to audit)

The CCG made no payments of compensation on early retirement or for loss of office
during the year (2016/17 - £Nil).

Payments to past members
(subject to audit)

The CCG made no payments to past members during the year (2016/17 - £Nil).
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Pay Multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of
the highest paid director / member in their organisation and the median remuneration of
the organisation's workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in the
financial year 2017/18 was £90,000 to £95,000 (2016/17 - £85,000 to £90,000). This was
2.56 (2016/17 - 2.49) times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was
£35,000 to £40,000 (2016/17 - £35,000 to £40,000).
In 2017/18, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of
the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £10,000 to £15,000 to £90,000 to
£95,000 (2016/17 - from £15,000 to £20,000 to £85,000 to £90,000).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefitsin-kind but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Staff Costs (Subject to audit)
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Staff composition
WSCCG Gender by Banding

West Suffolk CCG
Pay Band by Gender

Headcount

10
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
2

3

4

5

6

7

8a

8b

8c

8d

9

perso
nal
salary

Male

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

1

0

9

Female

0

0

0

7

5

2

1

0

2

1

0

4

8b

8c

8d

9

perso
nal
salary

Management Delivery Team Gender by Banding

MDT
Pay Banding By Gender

Headcount

50
45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
2

3

4

5

Male

0

Female

3

6

7

2

3

9

24

8a

1

7

15

9

4

6

4

0

2

9

44

27

12

19

7

5

1

6

Staff policies applied during the Financial Year
None
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Staff numbers (Subject to audit)

Staff Numbers

Average number of people employed

Total
Number

2017-18
Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

198

193

5

173

2016-17
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Sickness absence data

West Suffolk CCG

Chief Operating Office, West Suffolk CCG
Chief Redesign Office, West Suffolk CCG
Overall Rate

2.15%
2.85%
2.45%

Management Delivery Team

Chief Corporate Office
Chief Contracts Office
Chief Finance Office
Chief Nursing office
Communications and external relations
Office of the Accountable Officer
Overall Rate

2.02%
4.87%
2.85%
3.07%
0.17%
0.00%
3.41%

Sickness absence rates for CCG employees and the Shared Management Delivery Team
were above the 2% target. The three main causes of sickness absence were anxiety,
‘colds, coughs and flu’, and musculoskeletal ailments.
Return to work interviews and early referrals to occupational health by line managers
have helped reduce and manage the level of sickness absence. CCG has begun working
with employee wellbeing experts CiC to provide staff with an independent, free and
confidential advice service. All CiC counsellors are either accredited by or registered with
the British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy or an equivalent professional
body. They offer practical advice and emotional support with work and personal issues.
Other initiatives to improve staff wellbeing have included a programme of flu jabs for all
employees and a stress workshop.
All of our employees have access to a Stress Management Toolkit which helps them
identify the causes of stress and are able to discuss any issues they may have with line
managers and the occupational health team. The CCG has also relaunched its staff health
and wellbeing group and a number of health and wellbeing champions have been
appointed.
The health and wellbeing initiatives we have introduced have included:


access to Suffolk Wellbeing workshops



flexible working opportunities, and



monthly activities such as charity collections

91. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Sickness absence data continued
We are accredited by Investors in People (IiP) to gold assessment standard and also
have the ‘Health and Wellbeing’ award and the ‘Staying Healthy at Work’ award. During
assessment for the IiP gold standard 193 requirements were evidenced, well over the
165 needed. The executive summary in the IiP report praised the CCG for “very clear
direction and objectives”, “clear, high standards and procedures to enable people to
perform well” and “great encouragement and support of ideas for improvement”.
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Staff Engagement
A variety of means are used to keep employees informed about workplace developments.
These include:


regular one-to-one meetings with line managers during which they are encouraged
to raise any concerns or issues



monthly team briefings hosted by the Chief Officer during which questions from
the floor are encouraged or can be tabled anonymously in advance



The Buzz, a fortnightly electronic newsletter, and



Suffolk Headlines – an all staff email to alert people to key business and building
updates.

Any issues concerning staff are reported to the Remuneration and HR Committee and
the Staff Partnership Forum for discussion and CCG performance data is posted on the
staff intranet on a monthly basis.
The CCG’s values and behaviours are included in the personal development plans of all
employees and regular reviews are conducted by line managers to ensure these are
being adhered to by staff. Regular employee surveys are also undertaken.
Joint Staff Partnership:
The CGG works closely with trade union colleagues including Unison, the Royal College
of Nursing and Managers in Partnership as part of the Joint Staff Partnership. Meetings
occur bi-monthly and details of matters discussed and decisions taken are communicated
to staff.
During the year the Joint Staff Partnership also reviewed and signed off a new staff
sickness absence policy and sponsored a ‘lunch and learn’ event on infection control.
Disabled employees:
The CCG promotes equality of opportunity in all it does, including in the recruitment and
selection of its workforce, and has ‘Positive about Disability’ accreditation. Its recruitment
and selection policy highlights the steps recruiting managers need to take if an applicant
declares themselves as disabled. Reasonable steps are taken to ensure all disabled
applicants are treated fairly, which includes being flexible about interviewing venues,
selection procedures and aptitude tests.
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Staff Engagement continued
Occupational health advice and support is offered to all staff and specialist advice is
sought for disabled employees.
Meetings with occupational health advisers are held every three months to review how
the CCG can actively support staff health and wellbeing. All employees undergo an
annual appraisal and personal development plans are drawn up on an equal opportunities
basis. Key Performance Indicators regarding equal opportunities are regularly reported
to the Remuneration and HR Committee.
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Expenditure on consultancy

The CCG spent £204k during 2017/18 on consultancy services (2016/17 - £258k). The
majority of the expenditure for the year covered three main areas. These were the
engagement of advisors who supported the work of the CCG by undertaking clinical and
prescribing reviews, expenditure on a Quality Improvement Nurse Consultant who was
engaged by the CCG to revive the function and structure of the Chief Nursing Officer's
Team and expenditure on an Information Governance expert who carried out gap
analysis, provided assurances and implemented new processes within the CCG in
readiness for the implementation of new General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)
legislation that comes into effect on 25th May 2018.
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The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements)
Regulations 2017
Relevant union officials
Total number of employees who were relevant union officials during 2017/18:
Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during 2017/18
2
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Full-time equivalent employee number
2
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Percentage of time spent on facility time
Percentage of their working time spent on facility time by employees who were relevant
union officials employed during 2017/18:
Percentage of time
0%
1-50%
51-99%
100%

Number of employees
2
0
0
0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union
officials for facility time during 2017/18:
Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility
time

£Nil
£10,329k
0%

Paid trade union activities
Percentage of total paid facility time hours spent by employees who were relevant union
officials during the 2017/18 on paid trade union activities:
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours

0%
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Off-payroll engagements
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day
and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018

2

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

0

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

2

For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that last
for longer than 6 months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018

0

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35

0

Number assessed as not caught by IR35

0

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are
on the departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
the consistency review
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Off-payroll engagements continued
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2017 and 31 March 2018.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the

0

financial year (1)
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should

24

include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. (2)
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments

(subject

to audit)

The CCG did not agree any exit packages during 2017-18. During 2016-17, one exit
package was agreed in the form of a contractual payment in lieu of notice at a cost of
£96,124.
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Health and Safety
The Health & Safety and Risk Committee meets quarterly to review issues relating to
the CCGs.
The committee is chaired by the Chief Corporate Services Officer and draws
membership from both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS West Suffolk CCGs,
the CCGs’ health and safety services provider Safetyboss and the management
delivery team. The committee reports to the Remuneration and HR Committee for
information and comment.
West Suffolk House, Endeavour House and Landmark House all have Building User
Group (BUG) meetings. The CCGs have representatives who attend these meetings
and any health and safety issues, either from the Health, Safety and Risk Committee
or respective BUG meetings, are fed back to staff via these forums.
Health and safety training is now provided via a web-based training tool. The
mandatory modules cover the required areas of health and safety for a low risk office
environment and each includes an assessment that must be passed by staff.
During October and November 2017, all CCG staff moved out of Rushbrook House in
Bramford, with the majority moving to Endeavour House and the remainder to
Landmark House. This has resulted in the CCG occupying Suffolk County Council
buildings and dovetailing into their fire and first aid arrangements. To ensure robust
arrangements are in place for staff, the CCG has its own fire marshalls at Endeavour
House. Staff have been trained in the use of evacuation chairs so they are able to
assist disabled staff in the event of an incident.
The Terms of Reference for the Health, Safety and Risk Committee have been revised
to reflect the new locations of CCG staff, fire and first aid arrangements and the
termination of the CCG’s relationship with NHS Property Services regarding
occupancy of Rushbrook House. The committee continues to provide advice to staff
on their safety within the office environment and work with them to maintain a safe
environment for staff and visitors.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a Parliamentary
Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses
and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the
Financial Statements of this report. An audit certificate and report is also included in
this Annual Report.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 May 2018
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West Suffolk CCG - Governance Statement
2017-18
Introduction and Context
West Suffolk CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements
of its local population.
As at 1 April 2017, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006.

Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies,
aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning
group as set out in this governance statement.
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Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
The Governance Framework of the Clinical Commissioning Group is the system by
which the Clinical Commissioning Group is directed and controlled in order to achieve
its

objectives

and

meet

the

necessary

standards

of

accountability

and

probity. Effective corporate governance, along with clinical governance, is essential
for a Clinical Commissioning Group to achieve its clinical, quality and financial
objectives.
The NHS Act 2006, together with the Health & Social Care Act 2012 and associated
legislation, sets out the legal framework within which the Clinical Commissioning
Group operates. It is a statutory requirement that the Clinical Commissioning Group
Governing Body specify their terms of reference, schedule of reservation and
delegation of powers, and the financial framework within which the organisation
operates. These key documents comprise the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
corporate governance arrangements and include:


The Constitution - as a framework for Governing Body governance



The Detailed Financial Policies - as a framework for financial governance



The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation - as a framework for internal
governance

It is essential that the public and all employees know of the existence of these
documents and for staff, that they are aware of their responsibilities as set out within.
They are therefore reviewed, updated and approved each year at a meeting of the
Governing Body in public and made available on the Clinical Commissioning Group
web site and intranet.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Membership Body includes 24 member
practices. These member practices are:


Angel Hill General Practice, Bury St Edmunds



Hopton and Stanton Surgeries
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Botesdale Health Centre, Botesdale



Brandon Medical Practice



Haverhill Family Practice



Clements & Christmas Maltings Surgery, Haverhill



Forest Surgery, Brandon



Glemsford Surgery, Glemsford



Guildhall Surgery, Clare



Guildhall and Barrow Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Hardwicke House Group Practice, Sudbury



Lakenheath Surgery



The Long Melford Practice



Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall



Mount Farm Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket



Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket



The Rookery Medical Centre, Newmarket



Siam Surgery, Sudbury



Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Reynard Surgery, Mildenhall



Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Wickhambrook Surgery



Woolpit Health Centre, Woolpit

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Governing Body includes 8 GPs elected by their
peers, 2 practice managers, a lay member for governance, a lay member for patient
and public involvement, a third general lay member appointed in 2016, an Accountable
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Officer, a Chief Nursing Officer, a secondary care doctor and a Chief Finance Officer.
The Governing Body also includes 4 non-voting Chief Officers.
Governing Body meetings focus on strategy, clinical and service development,
finance, performance and scrutiny and governance and corporate business.
Some of the key items considered by the Governing Body at meetings during the year
included:


Community Services



Integrated Urgent Care Services



Sustainability Transformation Partnership and Integrated Care System
Planning



Children and Adolescent Mental Health



Special Education Needs and Disability (SEND)



Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response



Primary Care Strategy



East of England Ambulance Services



Provider Care Quality Commission Reports

Given the dynamic environment within which CCGs undertake their activities even the
most experienced Governing Body Members benefit from on-going training and
support. New Members also need robust orientation, allowing them to understand their
role and the organisations governance processes. Further to the findings of the selfassessment, training needs analysis and recommendations from PWC, update
training has been provided for Governing Body Members with a particular focus on
scrutiny and challenge. As a consequence, the Governing Body now considers that it
has been effective in the discharge of its duties and has been assured by NHS England
at subsequent quarterly review meetings.

The table below shows the Governing Body attendance for 2017-18:
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West Suffolk CCG – Governing Body 2017/18
Governing Body Member

Armitt Chris

26 Apr 17

24 May 17

28 Jun 17 26 July 17

(Part two)

(Part one and
two)

(Part two)

27 Sept 17 25 Oct
(Part one and 17

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

29 Nov 17

(Part two)

(Part one and
two)

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No
Yes

two)

24 Jan 18 28 Mar
(Part one
18
and two)

(Part one
and two)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Armitage Zohra
(GP Member)

Arthur Simon
(GP Member)

Banks Bill
(Lay Member for Governance)

Browning Christopher
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Bernard Kevin
(Practice Manager Member)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance - Vice Chair)

Eley Andrew
(Deputy Chief Operating Officer)
Finn Johanna

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Part One
Only

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Hassan Andrew
(GP Member)

Holland Emma
(GP Member)

Hooper Chris

Yes

(Deputy Chief Nursing Officer)

Hughes Sarah

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

(GP Member)

Jamieson Crawford
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Lyes Amanda
(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

McLean Barbara
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Smith Karen

Yes

(Head of Patient Safety and Clinical Effectiveness)

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes (Part)

No

No

Yes

Yes (Part
1 only)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Part One
only

Part One
only

Part One
only

(GP Member)

Thomas Jan
(Chief Contracts Office)

Vaughton Kate
(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

Watson Richard
(Chief Redesign Officer)

Webster Jane

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Director/Asst Director of Public Health No

Part one
only

No

No

Part One
Only

No

Vacant Practice Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Practice Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post
(Secondary Care Doctor)
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The formal sub-committees established by the Clinical Commissioning Group
Governing Body include:
The Audit Committee
The purpose and key functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the adequacy
of:
(i)

All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the Annual
Governance Statement), together with any accompanying Head of Internal
Audit statement, external audit opinion or other appropriate independent
assurances, prior to endorsement by the Governing Body;

(ii)

The structures, processes and responsibilities for identifying and managing
key risks facing the organisation through the oversight of risk management
and information governance strategies;

(iii)

The operational effectiveness of policies and procedures relating to internal
control and risk management including the Governing Body Assurance
Framework; and

(iv)

The policies and procedures for all work related fraud and corruption as set
out in Secretary of State Directions and as required by the Counter Fraud
and Security Management Service.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:


Consideration and oversight of the work plans for External Audit, Internal Audit
and Counter Fraud



Data/Cyber Security & General Data Regulations (GDPR)



Individual Funding Requests



Continuing Healthcare



Auditor Appointment



Managing Conflicts of Interest Guidance

Internal Audit reporting included reports on the following:


Quality – Care Homes



Individual Funding Requests



Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF)



Continuing Healthcare
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Commissioning – Quality Premium



Financial Reporting and Budgetary Control



Key Financial Assurance



HR Recruitment and Payroll



Managing Conflicts of Interest



Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)



Delegated Commissioning



Better Care Fund



IT Contracts



IG Toolkit

Audit Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Audit Committee Member

04 Apr 17

22 May 17

13 Jun 17

(Extraordinary)

Banks Bill

5 Sept 17

5 Dec 17

6 Feb 18

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Inquorate)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

(Lay Member for Governance)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Vacant Post
(Governing Body Member)

Bernard Kevin (Reserve)

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Acting Chief
Finance Officer
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Governance
Advisor
Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer

External Audit
Internal Audit
Head of
Accounting and
Control

Internal Audit
External
Audit
Counter
Fraud
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Acting Chief
Finance
Officer
Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer

Internal Audit
External
Audit
Counter
Fraud
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Governance
Advisor

Internal Audit
External Audit
Chief Finance
Officer
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer
Governance
Advisor

(Governing Body Member)

Others in attendance to
advise:

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance
Officer
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Governance
Advisor
CHC
Programme
Manager
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The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
The purpose of the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee is to:
Advise the Governing Body about the appropriate remuneration and

(i)

terms of service for the Accountable Officer, Chief Officers and senior
managers of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Under delegated powers from the Governing Body, make decisions on

(ii)

all aspects of the Accountable Officers’, Chief Officers’ and senior
managers’ salaries (including any performance-related elements and
any allowances) within the provisions of relevant national frameworks,
provisions for other benefits, as well as the arrangements for termination
of employment and other contractual terms.
Advise on all Human Resources policies and procedures and issues that

(iii)

may impact on the terms and conditions of employment for all staff.
Advise on all matters of health and safety.

(iv)

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:


Human Resources/Workforce Performance



Health and Safety/Risk Management



Updated Guidance on the Appointment of Accountable Officers



Apprenticeship Levy



Gender Pay Issues



Employee Talent Management



GP election Process

Remuneration and HR Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Remuneration & HR
Committee Member

18 April 17

Banks Bill

Yes

20 Jun 17

19 Sep 17

19 Dec 17

13 Feb 18

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Inquorate)

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Finn Johanna

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

Chief Corporate
Services Officer
Finance Manager

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

(Lay Member for Patient and
Public Engagement)

Browning Christopher
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Others in attendance
to advise:
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The Clinical Scrutiny Committee
The purpose of the Clinical Scrutiny Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a dedicated forum for the oversight of clinical governance.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body and Audit Committee that the
Clinical Commissioning Group has the necessary clinical governance
arrangements in place to meet its objectives.
Ensure effective clinical engagement in clinical governance processes,

(iii)

utilising clinicians’ specific expertise and knowledge of local communities
and public/patient involvement.
Facilitate a culture where clinical quality, patient experience and patient

(iv)

safety are of the highest priority.
Clinical Scrutiny Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Clinical Scrutiny
Committee Member

26 Apr 2017

28 Jun 17

16 Aug 17

25 Oct 17

20 Dec 17

28 Feb 18

Armitt Chris

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dial in

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Armitage Zohra
(GP Member)

Arthur Simon
(GP Member)

Banks Bill
(Lay Member for Governance)

Bernard Kevin
(Practice Manager Member)

Browning Christopher
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Finn Johanna

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Dial in

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dial in

Yes

Part

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Dial in

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No
Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Hassan Andrew
(GP Member)

Holland Emma
(GP Member)

Hooper Chris
(Deputy Chief Nursing Officer)

Hughes Sarah
(GP Member)

Kanka David
(Asst Director of Public Health)

Lyes Amanda
(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

McLean Barbara
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)
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Smith Karen
(Head of Patient Safety and Clinical Effectiveness)
Talebpour Bahram

Yes
Yes

Yes

Yes

Part

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Dial in

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dial in

(GP Member)

Thomas Jan
(Chief Contracts Officer)

Vaughton Kate
(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

Watson Richard
(Chief Redesign Officer)

Webster Jane
(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

The Commissioning Governance Committee
The purpose of the Commissioning Governance Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a forum, with delegated decision-making powers, for approval of
commissioning intentions where the recommended providers are GP practices.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body, Audit Committee, NHS England and
general public that the Clinical Commissioning Group has the necessary
governance arrangements in place to manage conflict of interest in regard to the
procurement of services provided by GP practices.

(iii)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the local commissioning of
GP services.

(iv) Demonstrate that the Clinical Commissioning Group and member practices are
acting fairly and transparently and that final commissioning decisions are made
in ways that preserve the integrity of the decision making process.
Commissioning Governance Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Committee Member

09 May 17

28 Jun 17

(Virtual)

Armitt Chris

12 Jul
17

23
Aug
17

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

27 Sept 17

3 Oct 17

25 Oct 17

14 Nov 17

(Virtual)

22 Nov 17
(Virtual)

16 Jan
18

Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Banks Bill
(Lay Member for Governance)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)
Dobson Geoff

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)

Finn Johanna

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)
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Jamieson Crawford

No

Yes

No

No

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Chief Finance Officer)

Thomas Jan

Yes

No

No

Yes

(Chief Contracts Officer)

Webster Jane

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Reynolds Jon

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Commissioning Governance Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Committee Member

28 Feb 18

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

27 Mar 18
Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

(Lay Member for Governance)

Finn Johanna
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Vacant Position
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Webster Jane
(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is established in accordance with
statutory provisions to enable the members to make collective decisions on the review,
planning and procurement of primary care services in West Suffolk, under delegated
authority from NHS England.
West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee – 2017/18
Committee Member

Armitt Chris

26 April 17

16 May 17

30 Jun 17

26 July 17

8 Aug 17

27 Sept 17

(Part one and
two)

(Virtual Part
two)

(Virtual Part
two)

(Part one and two)

(Virtual Part
two)

(Part one and
two)
(Inquorate)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

29 Nov 17

11 Jan 18
(Virtual)

23 Jan 18

Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Banks Bill
(Lay Member for Governance)

Chicken Steve

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Chief Officer)

Robert Hudson

Yes

(Deputy Chief Finance Officer)
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Jamieson Crawford

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Finn Jo (Chair)

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Thomas Jan

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

(Chief Contracts Officer)

Vaughton Kate
(Chief Operating Officer)

Non-Voting Members
Browning Christopher Dr
(WSCCG Chair - Observer)

Healthwatch Representative
(Observer)

Health and Wellbeing Board
Representative
(Observer)

LMC Representative
(Observer)

NHS England Representative
(NHS England Representative)

West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee – 2017/18
Committee Member

28 Feb 18
(Part two)

Chicken Steve

27 Mar 18
(Part one and
two)

Dial in

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Dial in

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dial in

Yes (Part
one only)

Dial in

No

(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Vacant Position
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Finn Jo (Chair)
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Vaughton Kate
(Chief Operating Officer)

Webster Jane
(Acting Chief Contracts Officer)

Browning Christopher Dr

Yes (Part)

(WSCCG Chair - Observer)

Healthwatch Representative

Yes

(Observer)

Health and Wellbeing Board
Representative

No

(Observer)

LMC Representative

No

(Observer)

NHS England Representative

Yes

(NHS England Representative)
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The Financial Performance Committee
The purpose of the Financial Performance Committee is to:
(i)

Establish a financial performance framework which enables the CCG to
proactively manage its financial, performance and quality, innovation,
productivity and prevention (QIPP) agenda

(ii)

Provide assurance about financial performance to the Governing Body by
reviewing and scrutinising performance reports and remedial action plans in
detail prior to submission to Governing Body meetings

(iii)

Ensure that the CCG operates within agreed budgets and proposing plans and
necessary actions to maintain financial balance

(iv)

Demonstrate the achievement of value for money and provide confidence to the
Governing Body and wider public that the CCGs resources are being used
effectively and efficiently

(v)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the delivery of effective
financial and performance management

(vi)

Hold to account the relevant Chief Officers and appropriate GPs for delivery of
agreed plans within their areas of responsibility

Financial Performance Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Committee Member

17 May 17

21 Jun 17

19 Jul 17

23 Aug 17

20 Sept 17

18 Oct 17

22 Nov 17

20 Dec 17

17 Jan 18

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Part

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Arthur Simon
(GP Member)

Armitt Chris
(Deputy Chief Finance Officer)

Banks Bill
(Lay Member for Governance)

Bernard Kevin
(Practice Manager Member)

Browning Christopher
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)
Finn Johanna

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Hassan Andrew
(GP Member)

Holland Emma
(GP Member)
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Hooper Chris

No

No

No

No

(Interim Chief Nursing Officer)

Hughes Sarah

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

No

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Part

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Lyes Amanda
(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

Mclean Barbara
(Chief Nursing Officer)

(GP Member)

Thomas Jan
(Chief Contracts Officer)

Vaughton Kate
(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

Watson Richard
(Chief Redesign Officer)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Financial Performance Committee – West Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Committee Member

21 Feb 18

21 Mar 18

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff
(Lay Member for Governance)

Yes

Yes

Finn Johanna

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Yes

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Arthur Simon
(GP Member)

Browning Christopher
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Hassan Andrew
(GP Member)

Hooper Chris
(Interim Chief Nursing Officer)

Lyes Amanda
(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

(GP Member)

Vaughton Kate
(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

Watson Richard
(Chief Redesign Officer)

Webster Jane
(Acting Chief Contracts Officer)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post
(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post
(GP Member)

Vacant Post
(GP Member)
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UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing
upon best practice available, including the aspects of the UK Corporate Governance
Code in respect of leadership, effectiveness and accountability that we consider to be
relevant to the Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
Arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and explained within
the Corporate Governance Framework have been developed with extensive expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal
advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body
decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can
confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
During the course of 2017-18, the organisation's processes for effective risk
management were managed in line with the Clinical Commissioning Group Risk
Management Strategy and Organisational Framework 2016-2019 and the Governing
Body Assurance Framework with this being reviewed monthly by the Chief Officer
Team and Clinical Scrutiny Committee, and also reviewed by the Governing Body and
the Audit Committee at each of their meetings.
The Chief Corporate Services Officer is the designated lead for overseeing the dayto-day coordination of risk management reporting arrangements, including training
and is a resource for all risk related issues. The Governance Advisor supports Chief

117. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Officers, Heads of Department and Line Managers, whilst also scrutinising all identified
risk and incident data. As the designated lead, the Chief Corporate Services Officer
works in partnership with:


The Risk Manager who acts as the Clinical Commissioning Group’s ‘Competent
Person’



The Chief Nursing Officer with respect to risk management requirements set
out in the Care Quality Commission standards



The Information Governance Lead and Data Protection Officer

Equality Impact Assessments are conducted at the outset of setting strategy and
delivering services across the commissioning cycle and in assuring a control and
assurance culture through risk, incident and complaints management which ensures
a clearly defined culture of equality across the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
activities.
Risk Assessment
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) provides the Clinical
Commissioning Group with a simple but comprehensive method for the effective and
focused management of risk. Through the GBAF the Governing Body gains assurance
from the Chief Officers that all risks are being appropriately managed throughout the
organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the organisation’s strategic goals may be at risk because
of inadequacies in the operation of controls, or where the Clinical Commissioning
Group has insufficient assurance. At the same time it encompasses the control of risk,
provides structured assurances about where risks are being managed and ensures
that objectives are being delivered. This allows the Governing Body to determine how
to make the most efficient use of resources and address the issues identified in order
to continuously improve the quality and safety of healthcare commissioning.
In order to ensure consistency in the risk assessment process, the likelihood and
consequences of all risks on the Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Register are
assessed against an agreed 5x5 risk matrix. Risks which are deemed to be of sufficient
concern to the organisation as a whole are considered for being migrated to the GBAF
and thereby inform the Governing Body agenda. The risk matrix and subsequent red,
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amber, green (RAG) score identify the level at which identified risks will be managed
within the organisation. It also assigns priorities for remedial action and determines
whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings.
In evaluating effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well
the agreed controls are operating.
A summary of the key strategic risks affecting the Clinical Commissioning Group
during the course of 2017-18 (including those carried forward into future years) and
the actions taken to eliminate or mitigate them have included:
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Risk

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate

2.

Failure to achieve financial balance in 2017-18











Project management approach to delivery of the QIPP plans
Focus on activity levels at acute provider with clear actions to mitigate against over performance
Close monitoring of the delivery of QIPP initiatives through KPI’s
Encourage innovative changes principally via CCGs to improve efficiency
Active scrutiny and challenge of specialist costs through meetings with the Specialised Commissioning Team.
Participation in regional and national discussions
Clinical Executive and Governing Body review of expenditure and significant investments
Prioritisation process for QIPP initiative investments and transformational change at Clinical Executive Group
Guaranteed contract values agreed with IHT, WSFT and CHUFT

6.

Failure to achieve the local reduction trajectories for Clostridium Difficile




Removed from GBAF in September 2017






Robust Root Cause Analysis (RCA) process for each provider case and submitted to CCG for assessment.
Audit programme of CQC recommended Infection Control standards (to include antibiotic prescribing) in all CCG
commissioned services
CCG attendance at Post Infection Review (PIR) and Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) Committee meetings
Provider delivery of targeted infection control education and audit in all CCG commissioned services.
17/18 trajectory agreed in SLA – ceiling for 16 Acute cases and 29 non-acute cases
External scrutiny provided by Public Health England

Failure to redesign and commission services covered by the
Urgent Care and Health and Independence Reviews within
required timescales




20.



Redesign of core components of the Urgent Care and Health and Independence Review underway
Contracts in place with the Consortium (West Suffolk Hospital, Ipswich Hospital and Norfolk Community
Services) for adult and children’s community services plus extension of contract to 111 and Out of Hours
with Care UK all running to October 2018.
Regular review with SCC to ensure smooth running of programmes

 Clinical Executive considered and agreed approach to wider redesign of services for commissioning by
October 2018
24.

A&E failing to meet 4 hour standard presenting a potential risk to
patient safety and experience





Where required, daily system wide teleconferences designed to ensure all actions to improve patient flow are taken
Winter schemes designed to promote flow and increase capacity in place
Team of escalation managers in place to support system and directors on call.

Removed from GBAF in August 2017
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Risk
27a.

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate

Potential impact of service quality delivered by NSFT









27b.

31.

Poor performance of mental health services

High risk that patient safety standards will be compromised due
to issues that have been experienced by West Suffolk Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust following the implementation of e-care.

Removed from GBAF in August 2017

Regular quality review meetings to review performance against defined key performance indicators
Support NSFT to develop a visual quality dashboard promoting visual assessment of performance against
agreed thresholds and allowing trends to be identified.
CCG / NHS Improvement attendance at monthly stakeholder assurance meetings to review and challenge
progress to deliver quality improvements
Review of progress against quality improvement plans (Trust / Local) prior to each quality review meeting
Schedule quality improvement visits to Suffolk based NSFT services organised and currently taking place
Assurance of robust process to sign off Cost Improvement Programmes (CIPs) and to review Quality Impact
Assessments (QIA) associated with the CIPs to assess potential negative impact on quality
Support NSFTs mock CQC inspections and provide feedback and gain assurance that the Trust has robust
plans in place to improve concerns raised through the mock CQC inspections



Monitor primary care contract issues and the Trust response







Completion of Recovery Action Plans (RAPs)
Contract Performance Notices for Access and Assessment Teams (AAT)
Director level escalation of long children’s waits
7 day Care Programme Approach (CPA) follow up
Information Notices issued on data completeness and data quality









WSFT internal reporting reviewed to gain oversight of all reportable quality metrics.
Referral to treatment times regularly discussed at contractual meetings
Root Cause Analysis (RCA) completed for all patients breaching referral to treatment time standards (2 week wait,
31/62 day standards, 18 weeks)
Detailed RCA’s completed for all cancer patients waiting over 100 days to receive definitive treatment
As per NHSE guidance.
Review of complaints / PALs issues to monitor for patient harms resulting from delays in treatment
Contractual performance levers
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Risk
33.

34.

35.

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate

WSFT is failing in their 18 week Referral To Treatment
(RTT) performance on both an aggregate level and
individual specialty level

Significant issues identified with the blood transfusion
service at West Suffolk Hospital (WSH) run by NEESPS
(previously TPP up to May 2017) during an inspection by
the MHRA in January 2017

Failure to comply with Special Educational Needs and
Disability (SEND) Reforms










Trust / NEESPS improvement plan
Weekly Trust / NEESPS updates on progress against plan to MHRA / NHSI
Serious Incident Reporting
Further MHRA inspections




Written statement detailing implementation actions to achieve compliance
SEND Strategy Group (and associated sub-groups) established to provide strategic leadership and
governance overseeing implementation of improvement actions
Appointment of programme manager to deliver implementation of improvements
Appointment of SEND support worker to operationally deliver SEND reforms




36.

CCG will not be able to meet its statutory duties to
safeguard children and adults in Suffolk
Risk added to GBAF in September 2017

Contractual performance review at each contract meeting
2 weekly RTT review meeting
RTT reduction model developed and tracked






Change line management reporting so Designates report directly to Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Nursing Officer to directly support the management of safeguarding teams
Approach to local service providers to see if cover can be provided from within the existing workforce or
significantly increase the designate nursing team
Transformation Project Manager to assist in system wide Safeguarding Adult Transformation
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Risk
37.

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate

A&E failing to meet 4 hour standard presenting a potential
risk to patient safety and experience

Risk added to GBAF December 2017

38.

Significant reduction in the capacity of GP services in Haverhill
affecting access times for patients, demand for other services
and retention of clinical staff
Added to GBAF in February 2018

39.

East of England Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) is failing
performance targets against ambulance response categories,
particular concern are delays in the higher acuity Category 1 and
2 calls









Daily reporting of performance
Escalation of health Delayed Transfer Of Care (DTOC) daily for CCG and system support
Out Of Hours (OOH) cover and 111 support continually reviewed to ensure rotas are in place to manage surges
Admission avoidance schemes fully operational and rolling reminder in place to Primary Care and OOH
GP streaming in place
111 targets in place to reduce inappropriate A&E referrals
A&E Board in place






CCG Primary Care strategy and support team in regular contact with practices LMC/CCG/Fed meetings
Weekly Clinical Executive meetings
Bi monthly Governing Body meetings
Utilisation of Vulnerable Practices Fund, resilience funding and £3 per head Transformation Fund





Weekly performance reviews and forecasting update with Commissioners and Provider
EEAST risk summit convened in February 2018 and will continue to review progress of performance
Monthly Contract Review focuses on local performance attainment and issues

Added to GBAF in February 2018
40.

Currently EEAST are unable to meet the demand for its services,
which may impact on the safety of patients








Contract in place with KPIs
Monthly joint CCG contract quality review meetings
Monthly contract and review meetings
Risk summit process
System wide actions to reduce demand and handover delays
Robust serious incident investigation process
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Further to monthly scrutiny, the risk ratings for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key strategic risks have changed over
the course of the year as follows:
Risk No

Apr-17

May-17

Jun-17

Jul-17

Aug-17

Sep-17

Oct-17

Nov-17

Dec-17

Jan-18

Feb-18

Mar-18

2

15▼

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

6

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

12►

12►

20

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

24

12►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

16►

27a

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

27b

12►

12►

12►

9▼

9►

12▲

12►

12►

12►

12►

16▲

16►

31

12►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

33

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

34

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

35

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

16

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16

16►

16►

16►

16

16►

16►

39

20

20►

40

20

20►

36
37
38
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The risk rating matrix used:

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Almost
Certain

5: Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4: Major

4

8

12

16

20

3: Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2: Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1: Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Likelihood score →
Consequence score ↓

The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also
assigns priorities for remedial action, and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings.
In terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well the agreed controls are operating within
the following classifications:
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RAG Score

CRITICAL
(15-25)

CHALLENGING
(8-12)

MANAGEABLE
(1-6)

Progress

Risk Assessment

 There may be significant gaps in controls to
ensure effective management.
 Controls are in place but insufficient
resources
 Controls are in place but external forces
may be preventing progress.

 There are insufficient controls in place to address the
cause or source of the risk
 Controls are considered insubstantial or ineffective
 Controls are being implemented but are not yet in place
 If this risk were to materialise, the situation could be
irrecoverable in terms of the Clinical Commissioning
Groups reputational/financial well-being and or service
continuity.

Progress is being made but there is concern
that the objective may not be achieved.
Additional controls or management action is
being taken to improve the likelihood of
success.

There are few controls in place, which are considered
substantial and/or effective and address the cause of the
risk. The consequences of the risk materialising, though
severe, can be managed to some extent via contingency
plans.

Progress is being made in accordance with
plans. There are no significant concerns.

The risk is considered to be small and there are sufficient
controls in place which address or substantially effect the
cause of the risk. The consequences of the risk
materialising can be managed via contingency plans.
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Revising Risk Ratings

If controls are inadequate then the revised risk rating
increases

If controls are uncertain, the revised risk rating stays the
same as the original risk rating

If they are perceived as adequate, then the revised risk
rating decreases

None of the principal risks relate to compliance with the Clinical Commissioning Group
licence. In addition, the Governing Body reviews the GBAF at each of its meetings
thus ensuring a high degree and rigour over the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
performance.

Capacity to Handle Risk
All actions contain inherent risks and risk management is central to the effective
running of any organisation. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore ensures that
decisions made on behalf of the organisation are taken with due consideration to the
management of risks.
To achieve this, the Governing Body must be confident that the systems, policies and
people it has put in place are operating in a way that is effective, are focused on key
risks and driving the delivery of the organisations objectives. The Governing Body
must also demonstrate that it has been properly informed, through evidence from the
Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF), that it is aware of the totality of risk
facing the organisation, and that it has made decisions on the management of that risk
based on all of the available evidence. The Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk and
control mechanism is described diagrammatically below:
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The GBAF is built around the Risk Register and from which the relevant strategic risks
are drawn. Whilst appropriately rated strategic risks will automatically migrate to the
GBAF, the Governing Body, with additional oversight provided by the Audit
Committee, determines whether or not any other risks from the Risk Register should
be transferred to the GBAF when considered strategically significant.
Incident and risk reporting is actively encouraged across the Clinical Commissioning
Group and relevant reports are recorded on an integrated risk reporting system called
‘Sentinel’, this being managed within the Chief Corporate Services Officer’s
department.
As a working document, the GBAF is updated monthly by the Chief Officers and
reviewed by the Governing Body, the Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit
Committee at each of their meetings, the former in public.
Risks arising from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s daily operations can result in
less than optimum quality of service, financial loss, disruption of normal operations,
accidents and injuries or adverse publicity. The likelihood of these events occurring
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and the potential extent of their impact depend on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
practices, processes and culture as well as external influences.
A key aim of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk management arrangements is
the continued reduction of risk through the greater understanding and involvement of
staff at all levels of the organisation. In order to support this, anybody who identifies a
potential or actual risk can report their concerns directly to their line manager, a Chief
Officer or the Information Governance and Risk Manager by submitting a completed
Risk Report Form; indeed all employees have a duty to do so.

Other Sources of Assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. How we achieve this is described in the preceding
sections.
Annual Audit of Conflicts of interest Management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The second annual audit was undertaken in January 2018 with an overall assurance
assessment of substantial assurance. There were two routine and two operational
action points arising from the audit, the majority of which have already been
addressed.
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Data Quality
Data security risks are reported through the Information Governance Lead to the Chief
Corporate Services Officer. The CCGs Information Governance Group that reports to
the Audit Committee monitors a detailed action plan, linked to the requirements of the
NHS Digital Information Governance Toolkit.

Level-two compliance has been

achieved for all of the toolkit requirements giving an overall rating of ‘satisfactory’. No
strategic data security risks have been included in the Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF) during the course of 2017-18 although the CCG is aware of the
increased risk from so called Cyber Security attacks and has as a matter of caution
included this risk in the Chief Corporate Services Officer’s local risk register.
Information Governance
NHS Digital Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures
by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Management
Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual
submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally,
securely, efficiently and effectively.

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We
have established an information governance management framework and are
developing information governance processes and procedures in line with the
information governance toolkit. We have ensured that all staff under-take annual
information governance training so that they are aware of their information governance
roles and responsibilities.

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents.

We are developing information risk assessment and management

procedures and a programme will be established to fully embed an information risk
culture throughout the organisation against identified risks.
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Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Quality assurance is vital to ensure that business critical models are robust. The
Clinical Commissioning Group ensures as part of its quality assurance that the
appropriate governance is applied to its business critical models and that NHS quality
assurance guidelines and checklists are also applied.

Control Issues
The Clinical Commissioning Group is not aware of any current significant control
issues that would potentially:


Prejudice the achievement of priorities or undermine the integrity or reputation
of the CCG and/or wider NHS



Put delivery of the standards expected of the Accounting Officer at risk



Make it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources, or divert resources
from another significant aspect of the business



Have a material impact on the accounts



Put national security of data integrity at risk
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Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of
Resources
The CCG has systems and processes for managing its resources including the
following:







Standing Orders.
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
Financial Policies.
Strict controls on vacancy management, recruitment and use of agency staff
Devolved budget management throughout the CCG.
QIPP Delivery

The Governing Body gains assurance on the delivery of its financial duties from the
Financial Performance Committee on a monthly basis following their review of detailed
financial information including financial planning and QIPP delivery.

The monthly Integrated Performance Report, which is submitted to the Governing
Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee, provides performance updates on
Constitutional

Standards,

Clinical

Quality

and

Patient

Safety,

Contractual

Performance, Redesign programmes and the Programme Management Office.

The Programme Management Office (PMO) provides a weekly update of progress
against key milestones and financial delivery to the organisation and more formal
monthly reports to the Financial Performance Committee and as part of the Integrated
Performance Report.

Assurance is also provided to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee, which
receives regular reports from both Internal and External Audit to ensure that controls
are operating effectively and to advise on areas for improvement. The internal audit
plan has been designed to deliver assurance against constitutional duties and gave
useful insight into any gaps in controls, as outlined in the work of Internal Audit.
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Delegation of Functions
The CCG has not delegated any of its functions

Counter Fraud Arrangements
The CCG is required under the terms of the Standard NHS Contract and in accordance
with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHS CFA) Standards for Commissioners:
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption, to ensure that appropriate counter fraud measures are
in place.
There was a robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery activity, supported
by the accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) whose annual proportionate
proactive work plan to address identified risks, was monitored by the Chief Finance
Officer, the Head of Accounting and Control and the Audit Committee. Face to face
training was provided to various staff groups during 2017/18, including the Finance
Team and at the Practice Manager Forum meeting. Counter fraud material was
disseminated to staff regularly through the intranet, posters and leaflets, as well as
fraud awareness publicity being provided to staff at training sessions.
The LCFS input to the review of eight policies, which were the Reimbursement of
Expenses and Recognition for Non-Staff Involvement Policy, the Management of
Serious Incidents Policy, the Violence and Aggression Policy, the Managing
Safeguarding Allegations Against Staff Policy, the Lone Worker Policy, the Health and
Safety Policy, the Dignity at Work Policy and the Individual Funding Requests Policy
(and Operating Procedures). This was to ensure that the policies were up-to-date and
accurate. Policies are reviewed in line with current legislation, from a best practice
and counter fraud perspective.

The LCFS attends the CCG Audit Committee regularly to provide progress reports and
updates, as well as providing an annual NHS CFA Self-Review Assessment against
each of the Standards for Commissioners. Appropriate action would be taken
regarding any NHS CFA quality assurance recommendations.

The LCFS issued five Crime Bulletins and 20 Fraud Alerts during 2017/18 relating to
subjects such as acid attacks, identifying and responding to suspicious behaviour,
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debt recovery fraud, social media identity theft, mandate fraud, phone/internet provider
scam, phishing fraud, increase in phishing emails, latest ATM scams, Royal Mail
delivery scam and fake parking fine emails, which are ongoing fraud issues nationally
within the NHS and the wider public sector
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion (HoIA) on the Effectiveness of the
System of Internal Control for the Year Ended 31 March 2018
The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available
to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Board’s own
assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This
Opinion will in turn assist the Board in the completion of its Annual Governance
Statement (AGS).
My opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion; and
3. Commentary.

1.

My overall opinion is that Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However,
some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls, put
the achievement of particular objectives at risk.

2.

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
i.

An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance
Framework and supporting processes; and

ii.

An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based
audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that
have been reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken
account of the relative materiality of these areas and management’s
progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses.
Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally
but are not required for Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is
being placed upon Third Party Assurances. Reliance has been placed on the
following Service Auditor Reports ISAE3402 for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st
March 2018 (except where identified):



NHS Shared Business Services from PricewaterhouseCoopers for Finance
and Accounting services.



Capita Business Services Ltd from KPMG for Primary Care Services
England (PCSE) for the period 1st April 2017 to 30th September 2017 and
1st October to 31st March 2018.
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The above reports include exceptions in the opinion. These are summarised
below:
SBS Service Auditor Report Opinion Conclusion


One exception was identified in relation into site access.

Capita Services Ltd Service Auditor Report Opinion Conclusion - October to March
2018


The report identifies exceptions with seven out of the 16 control objectives.
These are focused mainly around management of authorised lists and
system access.

Apart from the exceptions noted above, all opinions state the following:


the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified
control objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated
effectively throughout the period audited and customers applied the
complementary user entity controls referred to in the scope paragraph of
this assurance report; and



the controls tested which, together with the complementary user entity
controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if
operating effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable
assurance that the control objectives stated in the description were
achieved, operated effectively throughout the period for the period audited.

3. Commentary – see Annex B for a summary of completed internal audit work.
Annex B
Actual against planned Internal Audit Work 2017/18
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Annex C
“Limited” or “No” Assurance reports.
Review of Quality Premium Arrangements
The main findings from this review were as follows:


West Suffolk CCG is forecasting £0k of a possible £1.25m from QP, with only
three targets on track and an expected 100% reduction for failing all three
deduction metrics.



The CCGs do not have a formal plan in place for maximising the benefits from
the QP incentive scheme.



A QP dashboard is maintained, and it was confirmed that this is reported to both
CCGs’ Governing Bodies.



The audit established measures being taken to improve performance against
targets, and it suggested the dashboard is developed to show these actions.

Review of HR Recruitment and Payroll
The main findings from this review were as follows:


Documentation relating to key employment checks has not been maintained
within the HR department.



Whilst management have suggested that key recruitment checks are
undertaken, the lack of an audit trail provides no assurance over the robustness
of the application of these controls.



There are controls in place over the financial aspects of the workforce, however
no positive pay returns have been completed in the last year.



Leavers tested had been removed promptly from the system and a checklist
completed to ensure processes were followed correctly.



Pay runs and reconciliations are completed within the Finance Department on
a monthly basis.
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Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and
Internal Control
As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group
My review was informed in a number of ways:


Chief Officers within the organisation who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the system of internal control provided me
with assurance



The GBAF itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have
been reviewed



The work of Governing Body committees, particularly the Audit Committee and
the Financial Performance Committee, which scrutinise and challenge
governance and risk activities and seek assurances on the effectiveness of
controls



The Clinical Scrutiny Committee, as a committee of the Governing Body,
provides strategic clinical leadership, expertise and advice whilst ensuring
effective clinical engagement, utilising clinician’s knowledge of local
communities and public and patient involvement



The work of the Chief Nursing Officers team in carrying out quality visits,
inspections and monitoring provider serious incidents and risks



Contract meetings with providers which hold them to account for the quality of
the services commissioned



The Health & Safety and Risk Committee reviews health & safety risks and
ensures the health & safety of the workforce and any persons working or visiting
the premises



The Information Governance Committee reviews information governance risks
and issues, including data losses, IT security, the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998 and progress with the
IG Toolkit assessment, action plan and submission. The latter also monitored
by the Audit Committee.



The work of regulatory bodies such as Monitor and the Care Quality
Commission - their inspection reports provided assurance on the quality and
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governance of our provider organisations and services and help triangulate
local information.


The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.



The Serious Incident (SI) process for reporting and investigating serious
incidents and robust monitoring of action plans to ensure recommendations are
put into practice and risk mitigated.



Internal Audit provides an independent, objective opinion on the degree to
which governance and risk management supports the achievement of the
organisation’s objectives. The Head of Internal Audit, in accordance with NHS
Internal Audit Standards, was required to provide an annual opinion of the
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal
control, covering the whole financial year. For 2017-18 the opinion stated that
reasonable assurance could be given, as a generally sound system of internal
control is in place, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and controls
are generally being applied consistently and effectively, with only minor areas
for improvement identified.



Within the Clinical Commissioning Group information risk management forms
part of the wider information governance agenda. Ultimate responsibility rests
with me as Chief Officer and I am supported by the Senior Information Risk
Owner (SIRO), a member of the Governing Body. The SIRO in turn is supported
on a daily basis by the Information Governance and Risk Manager who has
responsibility for following up on issues in this area.



An Information Governance Group, chaired by the SIRO and attended by staff
from all areas, meets every quarter. This group discusses all information related
issues and makes recommendations of actions to address them. The group
provides updates into the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

To support this, the Clinical Commissioning Group has approved a number of polices
including Information Governance Policy, IT Security Policy and a Data Protection
Policy, which guide staff on their responsibilities.

Conclusion
The Governance Statement highlights the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key
strategic risks that include the risk of failure to achieve financial balance, and the ongoing performance issues with mental health services. Additional key issues facing
the Clinical Commissioning Group during 2017-18 were failure to comply with Special
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) reforms, the CCG not being able to meet its
statutory duties to safeguard children and adults in Suffolk and the East of England
Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) failing performance targets against ambulance
response times.
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One of the Clinical Commissioning Groups key priorities is to improve access to mental
health services across Suffolk. Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) is
the main provider of mental health services commissioned by the Clinical
Commissioning Group. The Trusts previous CQC Inspection report highlighted
serious concerns in service quality and rated the Trust inadequate overall. The Clinical
Commissioning Group has therefore continued to work closely with the Trust during
2017-18 to ensure it delivers the required quality improvements. There have been
regular quality review meetings to assess performance against defined key
performance indicators in order to develop a quality dashboard promoting visual
assessment of performance against agreed thresholds and allowing trends to be
identified. In addition, there has been CCG and NHS Improvement attendance at
monthly stakeholder assurance meetings to review and challenge progress against
quality improvement plans. Scheduled quality improvement visits to Suffolk based
NSFT services have taken place and the CCG has also supported NSFTs mock CQC
inspections in order to provide feedback and gain assurance that the Trust has robust
plans in place to address any on-going concerns identified.
Regarding Failure to comply with Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
reforms definitive actions have been taken to achieve compliance. A SEND Strategy
Group (and associated sub-groups) has been established to provide strategic
leadership and governance overseeing implementation of improvement actions. In
addition a Programme Manager has been appointed to deliver the necessary
improvements supported by a SEND Support Worker.
In order to ensure that the CCG meets its statutory duties to safeguard children and
adults in Suffolk, line management arrangements have been changed in order that
designates now report directly to Chief Nursing Officer who directly supports the
management of safeguarding teams.
During 2017-18, the CCG has worked with the East of England Ambulance Service
Trust to address performance issues, particularly in regard to ambulance response
times. There have been weekly performance reviews and forecasting updates with
both commissioners and providers, together with a risk summit convened in February
2018. The monthly contract review focuses particularly on local performance
attainment and issues of response and turnaround times.
2017-18 was another important year for the CCG in continuing to transform health and
care services as part of the Suffolk and North East Essex Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP) area and now working towards the establishment of a
strategic commissioning organisation through development of the local Integrated
Care System (ICS). By the alignment of CCG functions and governance
arrangements, Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs will be better able to shape a
strengthened strategic commissioning function around their distinct health and social
care requirements which will deliver improved outcomes across a bigger geographical
footprint, whilst retaining the ability to respond sensitively to local communities.
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Good governance is about the processes for making and implementing decisions but
is also important for several other reasons. It not only gives the local community
confidence in its CCG as the commissioner of their healthcare needs, but improves
the confidence that members and officers have in their own organisation and its
decision making processes. With the heightened corporate focus across the NHS on
the management of conflicts of interest the need for clear and robust governance
arrangements is ever more important so that we can ensure the key role GPs play in
ensuring good governance and leading the clinical strategy of the CCG is maximised
within the processes set out in this report.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 May 2018
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(10,422)
(1,162)
(11,584)

(9,002)
(910)
(9,912)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

10,329
338,765
120
106
551
349,871

9,244
297,070
215
(400)
415
306,544

338,287

296,632

0
338,287

13
296,645

0

0

338,287

296,645

Net Operating Expenditure
Finance income
Finance expense
Total Net Expenditure for the year

7

Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Sub total
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018
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NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2017-18
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2018
Note

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

9
10

840
70
910

399
42
441

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

11
13

4,623
255
4,878

4,837
126
4,963

5,788

5,404

(23,839)
(280)
(24,119)

(15,586)
(341)
(15,927)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(18,331)

(10,523)

Assets less Liabilities

(18,331)

(10,523)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(18,331)
(18,331)

(10,523)
(10,523)

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

15
16

The notes on pages 6 to 32 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 2 to 32 were approved by the Governing Body on 23 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Accountable Officer
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NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2017-18
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018
General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

(10,523)
(10,523)

(10,523)
(10,523)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(338,287)

(338,287)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(338,287)

(338,287)

Net funding received

330,479

330,479

Balance at 31 March 2018

(18,331)

(18,331)

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

(11,035)
(11,035)

(11,035)
(11,035)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating costs for the financial year

(296,645)

(296,645)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(296,645)

(296,645)

Net funding received

297,157

297,157

Balance at 31 March 2017

(10,523)

(10,523)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 01 April 2016
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2017

NOTE:
Under the NHS reforms that came into effect in April 2013, most of the material high value assets previously carried by Primary Care
Trusts such as land and buildings were transferred to non-CCG bodies, e.g. NHS Property Services Ltd. Consequently CCGs in general
do not carry material non-current assets on their balance sheets. Therefore net assets/liabilities equate to the difference between actual
net operating costs incurred (accounted for on an accruals basis) and the cash funding drawn down from NHS England to finance this
expenditure.
The notes on pages 6 to 32 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
5
11
15
16
16

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

13

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents
held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 6 to 32 form part of this statement
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2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

(338,287)
120
0
214
8,098
(168)
106
(329,917)

(296,645)
94
121
(890)
1,061
(158)
(400)
(296,817)

(395)
(38)
(433)

(350)
0
(350)

(330,350)

(297,167)

330,479
330,479

297,157
297,157

129

(10)

126

136

0

0

255

126
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in
the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced
by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the
clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget,
identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·

The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;

·

The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;

·

The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical commissioning group
recognises:

1.4

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates
and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
Better Care Fund:
The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council in respect of the Better Care Fund. This is a national policy
initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts. Having reviewed the terms of the agreement, the Department of Health and Social
Care manual for accounts and the appropriate financial reporting standards, the CCG has determined that there are two elements to the Better Care
Fund and they are accounted for as follows:
(i) The first part is controlled by Suffolk County Council which commissions services from various non-NHS providers. Whilst the services are
determined in partnership, the risks and rewards of the contracts remain wholly with the council. The CCG accounts for this on a lead commissioner
basis as healthcare expenditure with the local authority.
(ii) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from NHS and non-NHS providers. The risks and rewards of these
contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner for those services. The CCG accounts for these
costs as healthcare purchased from NHS and non-NHS providers.
Otherwise there were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of
applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

1.4.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Prescription Services:
The CCG receives financial information from NHS Business Services Authority relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by independent GPs, CCG run
practices and other CCG services. The total expenditure for the year includes an estimate March, based on the estimated profile of spend. The
estimate for March 2018 is £3.4m (2016-17 £3.4m).
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Secondary Healthcare:
Secondary activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not available in time for the
accounts, so estimates are made in agreement with providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of
the first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a charge or credit in the next financial year. Historically,
when these estimates have been compared to the subsequent actual data, they have not been materially different. Estimation techniques are used to
ensure that the correct levels of income and expenditure due relating to the current year are included through the inclusion of accruals based on
known commitments and local knowledge.
Partially Completed Spells:
Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of
stay at the end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay. The CCG agrees to use the figures calculated by the local provider
Trusts. The closing partially completed spells accruals, as notified by the provider Trusts, have been netted off with the equivalent balances from the
prior year, with any resulting difference charged to operating expenses. The value of the accrual as at 31 March 2018 is £1,278k (31 March 2017
£217k).
Maternity Pathways:
Expenditure relating to all ante-natal maternity care is made at the start of a pathway. As a result, at the year-end part completed pathways are treated
as a prepayment. The CCG agreed the methodology to be used for the calculation with the local provider Trusts. The value of the prepayment as at 31
March 2018 is £997k (31 March 2017 £832k).
Continuing Healthcare Accruals:
The CCG commissions a large number of Continuing Healthcare (CHC) packages from a variety of providers, and administers these packages using
the Broadcare system. At the end of any accounting period there will be a number of liabilities that have not been invoiced by providers, and so an
accrual is calculated to ensure that the financial ledger is consistent with the information reported on Broadcare. The value of the accrual as at 31
March 2018 is £1,168k (31 March 2017 £610k).
Prescribing Liabilities:
NHS England actions monthly cash charges to the CCG for prescribing contracts. These are issued approximately 6 weeks in arrears. The CCG uses
information provided by the NHS Business Services Authority as part of the estimate for full year expenditure. The value of the accrual as at 31 March
2018 is £3.4m (31 March 2017 £3.4m).
1.5

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6

Employee Benefits

1.6.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses
earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees
are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that
covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme
is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements, other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme assets
and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts. The assets are
measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service
earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised within finance
income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs.
Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation,
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
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1.8

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.8.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·

It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·

It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;

·

It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·

The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·

The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or,
·

Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.8.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured
subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial position
at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined
at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·

Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,

·

Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it would
meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued
and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised
in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not
result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating expenses.

1.9

Intangible Assets

1.9.1

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical
commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
·

When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;

·

Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,

·

Where the cost is at least £5,000.

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an
operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware,
for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·
The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
·
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
·
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
·
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
·
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
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1.9.2

Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above
are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no active market
exists, at the lower of depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income generating . Internally-developed software is held at
historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.

1.10

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current
assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of
the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or
service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held
under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-current
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine
whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from
a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial
impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to
the revaluation reserve.
1.11

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

1.11.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating
or finance leases.

1.12

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.13

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·
·
·

Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%)
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.85% (previously: minus 1.95%)
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those
amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
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1.14

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution
which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Resolution is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.15

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.

1.16

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.17

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

·

Held to maturity investments;

·

Available for sale financial assets; and,

·

Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.17.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or
loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned
on the financial asset.

1.17.2

Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.17.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the other
three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of
impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.17.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial
fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through
profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure
and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the
receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

1.18

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·

The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,

·
Assets.

The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
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Notes to the financial statements
1.18.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain
or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.18.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.19

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.20

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC Group accounting manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2017-18. These standards are still
subject to FREM adoption and early adoption is not therefore permitted.
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH groups bodies)
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021)
IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)
IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2017-18
Total

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Prescription fees and charges
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2017-18
2017-18
Admin Programme

2016-17
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

225
79
25
10,397
858
11,584

192
0
25
5,789
820
6,826

33
79
0
4,608
38
4,758

68
67
96
8,906
775
9,912

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG
and credited to the General Fund.
3. Revenue
2017-18
Total
£'000
11,584
11,584

From rendering of services
Total

2017-18
2017-18
Admin Programme
£'000
£'000
6,826
4,758
6,826
4,758

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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2016-17
Total
£'000
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2017-18

Total

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

8,318
875
1,105
31
0
10,329

8,110
875
1,105
31
0
10,121

208
0
0
0
0
208

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(225)
10,104

(225)
9,896

0
208

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

10,104

9,896

208

NOTE:
West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG. The cost of the Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCGs in the following proportion:
- Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 62.1%
- West Suffolk CCG 37.9%
The Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these pay costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG accounts and not as employee benefits. Likewise the income from the charge is shown as income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG in
the West Suffolk CCG accounts and is not netted-off against employee benefits.
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2016-17

Total

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

7,473
754
921
0
96
9,244

6,997
754
921
0
96
8,768

476
0
0
0
0
476

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(68)
9,176

(68)
8,700

0
476

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

9,176

8,700

476

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2017-18

2016-17

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

(179)
(21)
(25)
(225)

(179)
(21)
(25)
(225)

0
0
0
0

(55)
(6)
(7)
(68)
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4.2 Average number of people employed

Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

Total
Number

2017-18
Permanently
employed
Number

2016-17
Other
Number

Total
Number

198

193

5

173

0

0

0

0

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2017-18
Compulsory redundancies
Number
0
0

£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2016-17
Compulsory redundancies
Number
0
0

£
0
0

2017-18
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0

2017-18
Total
Number
0
0

£
0
0

£
0
0

2016-17
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
96,124
1
96,124

2016-17
Total
Number
1
1

£
96,124
96,124

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures
2017-18

Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Total

Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0

2016-17
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
96,124
1
96,124

NOTE: The exit package of £96,124 agreed during 2016-17 relates to a Management Delivery Team member who was performing a shared role split
between West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. Due to the fact that West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team, the exit
package was paid in full through the host organisation. Therefore the full amount of the exit package is shown above with income from Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG being accounted for as 'Non-patient care services to other bodies' (see note 2). The income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG equated to
62.8% of the total settlement, therefore £60,366.
These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been
recognised in part or in full in a previous period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change terms and conditions.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
Where entities has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS Entities and not by the NHS Pension Scheme, and are included in the
tables. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables.
No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value was more than 12 months’ of their annual salary.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.

14

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2017-18
4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March
2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be
obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The
Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM
Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are
published by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by
the scheme actuary. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative
to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if
the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to
member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant
stakeholders.
For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £1,105k were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: £921k) at the rate of 14.38% of
pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government
website on 9 June 2014. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1.
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5. Operating expenses
2017-18
Total
£'000

2017-18
Admin
£'000

2017-18
Programme
£'000

2016-17
Total
£'000

9,495
834
10,329

6,994
834
7,828

2,501
0
2,501

8,575
669
9,244

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Audit fees
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Clinical negligence
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Total other costs

13,229
192,184
15,272
36,759
545
80
204
204
4,248
1
1,054
109
11
0
0
66
40,090
155
34,846
21
124
6
228
106
0
339,542

190
4
0
0
543
0
203
201
2,010
0
469
109
11
0
0
66
0
0
0
21
4
6
185
(20)
0
4,002

13,039
192,180
15,272
36,759
2
80
1
3
2,238
1
585
0
0
0
0
0
40,090
155
34,846
0
120
0
43
126
0
335,540

24,222
171,579
14,262
39,813
409
274
154
258
2,801
0
1,429
84
10
53
68
53
40,827
71
599
21
26
6
109
(400)
572
297,300

Total operating expenses

349,871

11,830

338,041

306,544

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
The significant increase in expenditure between accounting periods is due to the transfer of the delegated primary care co-commissioning allocation from NHS England to the
CCG from 1 April 2017. The allocation for 2017-18 was £34,130k and resulted in an increase in costs in the above note of £34,273k.
The decrease in 'Services from other CCGs and NHS England' expenditure is due to a change in lead commissioning arrangements in respect of the Community Services
contract. From 1 October 2017 Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG ceased to be the lead commissioner for the Community Services contract and West Suffolk CCG were
subsequently charged direct by the provider for their share of the contract. This equates to £2,085k per month.
5.1 Limitation on auditors’ liability
The limitation on auditors’ liability for external audit work is £2m.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

9,299
8,902
95.73%

85,977
84,203
97.94%

9,906
9,621
97.12%

57,501
55,370
96.29%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,294
2,218
96.69%

224,994
223,617
99.39%

2,448
2,379
97.18%

217,848
214,623
98.52%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipts of a valid
invoice, whichever is later.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

0
0
0

0
0
0

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Interest
Other interest expense
Total interest

0
0

13
13

Total finance costs

0

13

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total

7. Finance costs
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8. Operating Leases
8.1 As lessee
The clinical commissioning group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.
8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2016-17
Total
£'000

922
922

29
29

951
951

1,385
1,385

37
37

1,422
1,422

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not
yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2016-17
Total
£'000

76
76
76
228

0
0
0
0

76
76
76
228

269
0
0
269

0
0
0
0

269
0
0
269
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9. Property, plant and equipment
Information
technology
£'000
261

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
289

Total
£'000
550

453
714

97
386

550
1,100

84

67

151

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2018

76
160

33
100

109
260

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018

554

286

840

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2018

554
554

286
286

840
840

554
554

286
286

840
840

Information
technology
£'000
314

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
274

Total
£'000
588

0
(53)
261

15
0
289

15
(53)
550

Depreciation 01 April 2016

29

38

67

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2017

55
84

29
67

84
151

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

177

222

399

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017

177
177

222
222

399
399

177
177

222
222

399
399

2017-18
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2018
Depreciation 01 April 2017

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2018

2016-17
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016
Additions purchased
Impairments charged
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2017
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9. Property, plant and equipment cont'd
9.2 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

Information technology
Total

2017-18
£'000
20
20

2016-17
£'000
20
20

Minimum
Life (years)
2
5

Maximum
Life (Years)
5
15

9.3 Economic lives

Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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10. Intangible non-current assets

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
52

Total
£'000
52

Additions purchased
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2018

39
91

39
91

Amortisation 01 April 2017

10

10

Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2018

11
21

11
21

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018

70

70

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2018

70
70

70
70

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
120

Total
£'000
120

Impairments charged
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2017

(68)
52

(68)
52

0

0

Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2017

10
10

10
10

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

42

42

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017

42
42

42
42

Minimum
Life (years)
3

Maximum
Life (Years)
5

2017-18

2016-17

Amortisation 01 April 2016

10.1 Economic lives

Computer software: purchased
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11. Trade and other receivables

Current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

3,154
729
253
180
289
0
18
4,623

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

3,514
832
233
120
129
1
8
4,837

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non current

4,623

4,837

0

0

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

The great majority of trade is with NHS bodies and Local Authorities therefore no credit scoring is considered necessary.
11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2017-18
£'000

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

DH Group
Bodies

Non DH
Group
Bodies

All receivables
prior years

895
2
(1)
896

137
0
17
154

2,468
7
112
2,587

£942,125 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2018.
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12. Other financial assets
12.1 Non-current: capital analysis
2017-18
£'000
(589)

2016-17
£'000
(15)

2017-18
£'000
126
129
255

2016-17
£'000
136
(10)
126

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

255
0
255

126
0
126

Balance at 31 March 2018

255

126

Capital expenditure

13. Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 01 April 2017
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2018
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14. Analysis of impairments and reversals
14.1 Analysis of impairments and reversals: property, plant and equipment
2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Over-specification of assets
Total charged to departmental expenditure limit

0
0

(53)
(53)

Total impairments and reversals charged to the statement of comprehensive
net expenditure

0

(53)

Total impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment

0

(53)

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Over-specification of assets
Total charged to departmental expenditure limit

0
0

(68)
(68)

Total impairments and reversals charged to the statement of comprehensive
net expenditure

0

(68)

Total impairments and reversals of intangible assets

0

(68)

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Departmental expenditure limit
Annually managed expenditure
Total impairments and reversals charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure

0
0
0

(121)
0
(121)

Impairments and reversals charged to the revaluation reserve
Total impairments

0
0

0
(121)

Of the above:
Impairment on revaluation to “modern equivalent asset” basis

0

0

Impairments and reversals charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure

14.2 Analysis of impairments and reversals: Intangible assets

Impairments and reversals charged to the statement of comprehensive
net expenditure

14.3 Analysis of impairments and reversals: totals

Impairments and reversals charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure
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Current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

3,266
1,441
2,521
171
15,555
153
2
156
574
23,839

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2,382
217
1,955
15
10,550
135
0
116
216
15,586

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non-current

23,839

15. Trade and other payables

15,586

Included above are liabilities of £Nil due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement
over 5 years.
Other payables include £428k (2016-17 - £169k) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018.
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16. Provisions

Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

Balance at 01 April 2017
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2018
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2018

Current
2017-18
£'000
280
0
280

Non-current
2017-18
£'000
0
0
0

280

Current
2016-17
£'000
220
121
341

Non-current
2016-17
£'000
0
0
0

341

Continuing
Care
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

220

121

341

275
(129)
(86)
280

0
(39)
(82)
0

275
(168)
(168)
280

280
280

0
0

280
280

The Continuing Care provision consists of the likely costs associated with appeals as at 31 March 2018 and the likely costs associated
with a backlog of cases that relate to retrospective periods of care. The provision has been calculated on a case by case basis using
both average weekly costs and conversion rates.
£Nil is included in the provisions of NHS Resolution as at 31 March 2018 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
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17. Financial instruments
17.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
17.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
17.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
17.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group's revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed
in the trade and other receivables note.
17.1.4 Liquidity risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS
clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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17. Financial instruments cont'd
17.2 Financial assets
Loans and
Receivables
2017-18
£'000

Total
2017-18
£'000

3,154
542
255
18
3,969

3,154
542
255
18
3,969

Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

3,514
361
126
9
4,010

3,514
361
126
9
4,010

Other
2017-18
£'000

Total
2017-18
£'000

4,707
18,821
23,528

4,707
18,821
23,528

Other
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

2,600
12,735
15,335

2,600
12,735
15,335

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2018

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2017

17.3 Financial liabilities

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2018

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2017
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18. Operating segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has income totalling £11,584k from external customers. Only one customer generated
income greater than 10% of the total sum - NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG (£8,887k). The majority of this income is
derived from the hosting arrangements.

19. Pooled budgets
19.1 Mental Health Pooled Fund
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled funding arrangement under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, in
which the Clinical Commissioning Group made a total contribution of £382k (2016-17 - £459k). This is a jointly controlled
operation under IAS 31.
The pool is hosted by Suffolk County Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the Clinical Commissioning Group
makes contributions to the pool, which is then used to purchase Mental Health services. The memorandum account
produced by Suffolk County Council shows the following:

Income
Expenditure
Surplus
CCG's share of the surplus

2017-18
£000
3,101
(3,068)

2016-17
£000
3,629
(3,539)

33

90

4

11

19.2 Better Care Fund
From 1 April 2015, the Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a Section 75 pooled fund arrangement with Suffolk
County Council for the Better Care Fund. The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a policy initiative between local authorities, CCGs
and NHS providers which has resulted in pooled funds being used to jointly commission or deliver health and social care.
Suffolk County Council act as the Host Partner for the pooled fund and provides the financial management for the fund.

Strategic oversight of the Better Care Fund is provided by the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Clinical Commissioning
Group and Suffolk County Council have agreed that the already established Suffolk Commissioners' Group should act as the
Partnership Board for the fund. The Partnership Board is responsible for the overall approval of the individual schemes,
ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund Plan and the strategic direction of the Better Care Fund.

Each partner to the Better Care Fund manages the contracts with their own providers of Better Care Fund services and each
partner retains any financial risk relating to those contracts. The Clinical Commissioning Group's shares of the income and
expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year was:

Income
Expenditure

Expenditure is further analysed as follows:
Contracts for which Suffolk County Council was the lead commissioner:
Contracts for which the Clinical Commissioning Group was the lead commissioner:
Total expenditure
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2017-18
£000
0
(14,853)

2016-17
£000
0
(14,592)

2017-18
£000
5,308
9,545
14,853

2016-17
£000
5,215
9,377
14,592
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20. Related party transactions (2017-18)

West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across five localities (currently 2 vacant posts); one secondary care lead
(currently vacant); two lay members responsible for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay
member and seven chief officers. Each GP on the Governing Body is either a partner or salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal
medical services commissioned by the CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of
payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract, prescribing incentive scheme payments and other payments for specific contracts.
2017/18

GP Governing Body Members

£000

£000

£000

£000

Payments to
Related Party
in respect of
Primary Care
Provision
£000

70
84
24
45
0
68
48
202

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

7
3
0
1
0
29
2
1

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,427
832
1,670
3,259
0
1,938
1,428
1,484

Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party

Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Simon Arthur - Partner - Oakfield Surgery
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Andrew Hassan
Dr Zohra Armitage- GP-Angel Hill Surgery
Dr Emma Holland- GP Orchard House Surgery (left October 2017)
Dr Sarah Hughes- GP Swan Surgery (left October 2017)

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

Practice Manager Governing Body Members
Kevin Bernard was a governing body member (resigned December 2017) and also the Practice Manager at Botesdale Health Centre. The CCG's
transactions with Botesdale Health Centre were as follows:2017/18
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party
Name of Related Party
Kevin Bernard - Botesdale Health Centre

£000
111

£000
1

£000
5

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0

Payments to
Related Party
in respect of
Primary Care
Provision
£000
1,266

Other Entities (i.e. not related to GP Practices)
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice & Governing Body Member and Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice &
Governing Body Member, work as Out of Hours Doctor and GP + Doctor for the following entities.

2017/18
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party
Name of Related Party
Care UK
GP Suffolk Federation

£000
3,001
842

£000
1
36

£000
0
63

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
24

Payments to
Related Party
in respect of
Primary Care
Provision
£000
0
8

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded
£250,000 are listed below:-

2017/18 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
NHS Property Services
NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community & Care NHS Trust
East Of England Ambulance Services NHS Trust
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
NHS North & East London CSU
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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20. Related party transactions (2016-17)
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across three localities; one secondary care lead; two lay members responsible
for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay member and seven chief officers. Each GP on the
Governing Body is either a partner or salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by the CCG. The
value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced services supplied under
contract.
2016/17

GP Governing Body Members
Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Simon Arthur - Partner - Oakfield Surgery
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Andrew Yager - Salaried GP - Botesdale Health Centre
Dr Rosalind Tandy - Salaried GP - Swan Surgery

Payments to
Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000
1
25
15
29
6
45

£000
0
0
0
0
0
1

£000
0
0
2
0
2
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0

Practice Manager Governing Body Members
Peter Knights is a governing body member and also the Business Partner and Practice Manager at Mount Farm Surgery. Kevin Bernard is a
governing body member and also the Practice Manager at Botesdale Health Centre. The CCG's transactions with Mount Farm Surgery and
Botesdale Health Centre were as follows:-

Payments to
Related
Party
Name of Related Party
Peter Knights - Mount Farm Surgery
Kevin Bernard - Botesdale Health Centre

£000
2
6

2016/17
Receipts
Amounts
from
owed to
Related
Related
Party
Party
£000
£000
1
0
0
2

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material transactions
with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250,000
are listed below:2016/17 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance NHS Trust
Guys St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
Mid Essex Hospitals NHS Trust
NHS Business Services Authority
NHS England
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
NHS North and East London CSU
NHS Property Services Ltd
Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community Health and Care NHS Trust
North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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21. Events after the end of the reporting period
There were no events after the balance sheet date to be disclosed in 2017-18.
22. Losses and special payments
22.1 Losses
The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs

Total Number of
Cases
2017-18
Number
0

Total Value of
Cases
2017-18
£'000
0

0

0

Total

Total Number of Total Value
Cases
of Cases
2016-17
2016-17
Number
£'000
4
121
4

121

The above administrative write-offs are in respect of the impairment of four assets during 2016-17.
22.2 Special payments
The Clinical Commissioning Group made no special payments during 2017-18.
23. Financial performance targets
NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income (Note 1)
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions (Note 2)
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Delegated primary care co-commissioning resource use compared to the amount specified in Directions

NHS Act
Section

Duty
Achieved?

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)
223J(1)
223J(2)
223J(3)
Supplementary
Information

Yes
Yes
Yes
N/A
N/A
Yes
N/A

2017-18
2017-18
Target Performance
£'000
£'000
352,295
350,460
589
589
340,122
338,287
0
0
0
0
5,602
5,005
34,130

34,220

2016-17
Target
£'000
312,389
15
302,462
0
0
5,529

2016-17
Performance
£'000
306,572
15
296,645
0
0
4,592

0

0

Note 1: For the purposes of Section 223H(1), expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year, and income is defined as the aggregate of the
notified in-year revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included
here on a gross basis). The income target has changed from cumulative in 2016-17 to in-year in 2017-18. The below table highlights the differences in reported targets between the two accounting
periods:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Expenditure not to exceed income

In-Year Target - as per 2017-18 accounts
Cumulative Target - as per 2016-17 accounts
Brought forward surplus

2017-18
Target
£'000
352,295
358,112
5,817

2016-17
Target
£'000
309,513
312,389
2,876

Note 2: For the purposes of Section 223I(3), target is defined as the in-year agreed revenue allocation for 2017-18 but the cumulative in-year agreed revenue allocation for 2016-17. The below table
highlights the differences in reported targets between the two accounting periods:
2017-18
2016-17
Target
Target
£'000
£'000
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
In-Year Target - as per 2017-18 accounts
340,122
299,586
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Cumulative Target - as per 2016-17 accounts
345,939
302,462
Brought forward surplus
5,817
2,876
As set out in the 2017/18 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 0.5% reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise
required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being
effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 0.5% non-recurrent monies to be spent. Therefore, to comply with this
requirement, NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group has released its 0.5% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £1,502k. This additional surplus will be
carried forward for drawdown in future years.
The Clinical Commissioning Group achieved a cumulative surplus of £7,652k for the year ended 31 March 2018 (£5,817k 2016-17). This surplus was composed of £5,817k of surplus from previous
years and £1,835k achieved in 2017-18 - shown by line 223I(3) in the table above. The 2017-18 surplus was made up of £1,502k contingency reserve which NHS England and HM Treasury required
the organisation to hold in case of financial deficits elsewhere in the NHS, £300k released to CCGs in March from national drug cost negotiations, and £33k of surplus relating to CCG activities
undertaken during the year ending 31 March 2018.
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